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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I would like to

          3  thank everyone for being at this hearing of the

          4  General Welfare Committee, which is now called to

          5  order.

          6                 Before I give an overview of what

          7  we're looking at today, related to the Housing

          8  Stability Plus Program and also to the services we

          9  provide to folks with HIV and AIDS, I'd like to turn

         10  the floor over to our Speaker Christine Quinn, and I

         11  want to say, as I've said before in this Chamber, we

         12  are very, very lucky to have a Speaker who spent

         13  many years working as a member of the General

         14  Welfare Committee and in the community on these

         15  issues, and as a real activist, as a real advocate,

         16  understands the issues that are confronting homeless

         17  people and people with HIV and AIDS like the back of

         18  her hand, and truly has spent a lifetime working on

         19  these issues. So, I welcome her today back to one of

         20  her original homes, the General Welfare Committee,

         21  and would like to turn the floor over to her to talk

         22  about the hearing today and the legislation that she

         23  is sponsoring.

         24                 SPEAKER QUINN: Thank you very much.

         25                 And I want to thank Chairperson
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          2  DeBlasio for holding this hearing on these pieces of

          3  legislation and a larger oversight hearing, because

          4  obviously the bills are just one way and one part of

          5  looking at a larger problem.

          6                 And I also want to thank Bill for,

          7  you know, now for the past four months, but more

          8  importantly, before that, for the prior four years

          9  as Chair of the General Welfare Committee we have

         10  discussed and focused on the topics of HASA, the

         11  needs of people with AIDS, homeless people with

         12  AIDS, HSP, the needs of homeless people in the City,

         13  many, many times, and Bill has really been an

         14  unbelievable and terrific and very, very focused

         15  partner in our efforts to make sure all New Yorkers

         16  who need housing get it, that all people with AIDS

         17  who need housing get it, and that it's really

         18  quality housing, the housing that they deserve.

         19                 You know, the legislation that's

         20  before us today, as Bill kind of referenced, comes

         21  out of many years of struggle to try to make sure

         22  that when people whose rent is paid for by

         23  government assistance, particularly in HASA and HSP,

         24  that when they get apartments, that those apartments

         25  are appropriate and decent housing. You know, Local
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          2  Law 49, we have a level medically appropriate in the

          3  laws as it relates to people with AIDS. And I have

          4  sadly seen, you know, over the course of numerous

          5  administrations, that that is just not the case when

          6  placements are made. And unfortunately we see people

          7  getting placed in apartments that are substandard

          8  and apartments where it is clear that the landlord

          9  is taking that money and not acting in a responsible

         10  and appropriate manner, as most landlords do, not

         11  putting that money into his or her building, but

         12  putting it into their pocket, and not doing anything

         13  to keep the apartment up to basic standards.

         14                 So, the reason and the thinking

         15  behind this legislation was, one, to make sure more

         16  New Yorkers are getting decent housing; two, to make

         17  sure when we're using taxpayer dollars to pay for

         18  housing, we are not using that money to subsidize

         19  the bank accounts of the few bad apples out there in

         20  the landlord pool, and that we're not supporting

         21  slum lords.

         22                 You know, I want to say that the

         23  situation is not what we want it to be, but it has

         24  certainly gotten better, and that is a good thing,

         25  and the Administration deserves credit for that
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          2  publicly and on the record for making this situation

          3  better. Certainly night and day to what it was like

          4  during the Giuliani Administration, when sometimes

          5  we would -- well, there is no need to even go into

          6  that. And much better over the four years of the

          7  first term.

          8                 So, I want to be very clear, things

          9  have improved, and we're grateful for that. But we

         10  do believe there is still a problem, and we need to

         11  work to make things even better, and we look forward

         12  through today's oversight and through some of the

         13  initial commentary on the legislation to begin that

         14  process of making things even better.

         15                 I know there have already been some

         16  discussions between the Council and the

         17  Administration about the issue and around the bill.

         18  I know there are some technical concerns, we'll call

         19  them, around the bill, but I'm confident that in

         20  today's hearing and as a follow-up to today's

         21  hearing, working together and working with the

         22  impacted communities, that we will be able to get to

         23  a point where we know that we're placing HASA

         24  clients and folks who get HSP in quality housing,

         25  and actually supporting landlords out there who are
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          2  doing the right thing, which is the vast majority of

          3  the landlords.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          6  much, Speaker Quinn.

          7                 Just a few points at the beginning of

          8  the hearing. First of all, I just want to welcome

          9  Council Member Jessica Lappin, who I know is going

         10  to be shuttling back and forth between hearings,

         11  because we have a very important hearing next door

         12  that affects her district deeply. And I want to

         13  thank the Administration, of course, for being here,

         14  and for working with us in preparation for this

         15  hearing. I want to thank my Counsel Jackie Sherman,

         16  and our Policy Analyst Freya Riel for their great

         17  work in preparing for the hearing today as well.

         18                 A number of other members to the

         19  General Welfare Committee will be joining us

         20  throughout the hearing, and have been very, very

         21  concerned on this issue.

         22                 You know, we are looking at Housing

         23  Stability Plus today, both in terms of legislation,

         24  but also in its broader situation, because from day

         25  one, I think there has been a wide range of feelings
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          2  about this program.

          3                 I used to be the Regional Director

          4  for the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban

          5  Development, and that was during the Clinton

          6  Administration, where there was a profound effort to

          7  try and protect the various programs that provided

          8  support for people who needed housing who happened

          9  to have low incomes, and I saw year-by-year the

         10  Congress in the 1990s chip away and chip away at the

         11  Section 8 Program, and that has continued even more

         12  so during the Bush Administration, and, therefore, I

         13  think the Bloomberg Administration deserves great

         14  praise for having come up with a local alternative

         15  because it's necessary. I think it is an

         16  acknowledgment of the fact that the federal

         17  government has unfortunately been steadily moving

         18  away from trying to provide low-income housing and

         19  support for people who need housing.

         20                 And, so, the concept of Housing

         21  Stability Plus is very praiseworthy. The concern has

         22  been from day one how do you make it work. And how

         23  do you make it something that really is pertinent to

         24  the lives people are living. Not just good on paper,

         25  but actually works for people day to day who are
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          2  struggling to make it in a housing market that gets

          3  tougher and tougher for low-income people, and by

          4  the way, in a job market that is very, very tough

          5  for many, many New Yorkers.

          6                 And, so, we have asked these

          7  questions from the beginning about housing stability

          8  plus, how are we going to ensure that folks who are

          9  on public assistance and then are leaving public

         10  assistance get the support they need so that we have

         11  consistency and we don't have people attempting to

         12  utilize housing stability plus who then do not get

         13  the support they need to do so properly, so that we

         14  do not have a program that doesn't actually apply

         15  for people in that transitional moment.

         16                 We've asked the question from day one

         17  about the rent subsidy structure and the step-downs

         18  and how each year the program provides 20 percent

         19  less in the subsidy, and is that realistic and

         20  workable both for tenant and landlord alike?

         21                 We've asked the questions which

         22  Speaker Quinn's bill addresses about the housing

         23  quality standards, and what we're doing to ensure

         24  that we have safe housing and that in fact the

         25  taxpayer is being treated properly in this process,
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          2  as well.

          3                 We've asked questions about whether

          4  tenants are being forced into difficult situations

          5  with their landlords where landlords are asking for

          6  side deals and supplemental money that's not

          7  supposed to be part of the program, and what that

          8  means for the tenants.

          9                 I hasten to add, and I think Speaker

         10  Quinn is exactly right, we should never stereotype

         11  low-income people and we should never stereotype

         12  landlords. The vast majority of low-income people in

         13  this City are trying to do their best to play by the

         14  rules and better themselves and their families, the

         15  vast majority of landlords are working with their

         16  tenants and working with the City honorably.

         17                 Unfortunately, there is always going

         18  to be people on both sides of the equation who

         19  aren't, and that's why we have to look at questions

         20  like these side deals.

         21                 We're concerned about people who face

         22  particularly vulnerable situations, such as victims

         23  of domestic violence, and how this program does or

         24  does not meet their needs.

         25                 And as I said before, we're concerned
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          2  about whether the program actually works for the

          3  people who have to provide the housing, who are the

          4  people who own the buildings, the landlords.

          5                 Lastly, a lot of the idea behind the

          6  program was to try and reduce the number of people

          7  going into shelter, as a means of accessing

          8  long-term housing solutions. We have not yet gotten

          9  a clear sense of that's what's happening, that

         10  there's been a change in the number of people going

         11  into shelter or the amount of time people are

         12  spending in shelter, as a result of the emergence of

         13  HSP.

         14                 So, there's a lot of potential, and

         15  there's a lot of problems, and unanswered questions.

         16  I have a feeling that we're going to have a number

         17  of oversight hearings before long on this question,

         18  and today we want to ask these questions, we want to

         19  focus obviously in particular on the legislation and

         20  the Administration's response to the legislation.

         21                 And with that, I'd like to welcome

         22  our representatives from the Administration, HRA,

         23  from DHS and from HPD. Welcome, and please proceed

         24  with your testimony.

         25                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Good
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          2  morning. I'm Fran Winter, the Acting Commissioner

          3  for the Department of Homeless Services, and I'd

          4  like to take a minute and let my colleagues

          5  introduce themselves.

          6                 MR. SHULTZ: My name is Harold Shultz,

          7  Special Counsel to the Department of Housing

          8  Preservation and Development.

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         10  CORBETT: I'm Jane Corbett. I'm the Executive Deputy

         11  Commissioner for Policy and Program Development for

         12  the Human Resources Administration.

         13                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Good

         14  morning. And before I begin to read my from my

         15  written testimony --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Commissioner,

         17  you can actually move that. I'm sorry to interrupt,

         18  move that microphone closer to you so you will be

         19  comfortable.

         20                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Thank

         21  you. I just want to take this moment to make sure

         22  everybody is aware that Housing Stability Plus is a

         23  program used by both the Department of Homeless

         24  Services, the Human Resources Administration and the

         25  ACS, Administration for Children's Services.
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          2                 Now I'd like to really begin. Thank

          3  you for giving me the opportunity to testify before

          4  you today on Housing Stability Plus, the City's

          5  rental supplement program for clients leaving

          6  shelter for permanent housing.

          7                 HSP is the largest and most generous

          8  discretionary local rental assistance program ever

          9  developed in this country.

         10                 One of the goals in Uniting For

         11  Solutions Beyond Shelter, Mayor Bloomberg's

         12  five-year action plan, is to reduce the size of the

         13  street and shelter populations by two-thirds by

         14  2009.

         15                 Central to this goal are strategies

         16  to ensure that homeless New Yorkers have greater

         17  access to affordable housing.

         18                 Since its inception, HSP has allowed

         19  thousands of individuals and families to move from

         20  homelessness to permanent housing.

         21                 As you know, the Bloomberg

         22  Administration launched HSP in 2004 in response to

         23  sharp declines in the number of available vouchers

         24  under the federal Section 8 program. New York City

         25  is the first to use City tax levy resources combined
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          2  with State and federal resources to counter

          3  declining federal assistance in this way. The

          4  program is designed to offer a market rate

          5  supplement to help individuals and families leave

          6  shelter and secure permanent housing.

          7                 It then gradually decreases over time

          8  to foster clients move toward independence. The HSP

          9  model is based on research which shows on the whole

         10  that homeless families are not unlike other poor

         11  families struggling to achieve a safe and stable

         12  home. Their greatest need is rental assistance and

         13  the short-term helping hand it represents. HSP

         14  provides that helping hand.

         15                 In addition, whereas Section 8 was

         16  only available to families with children and adult

         17  families, HSP includes families with children, adult

         18  families and single adults leaving shelter,

         19  providing a critical new resource to the single

         20  adult population.

         21                 Clients who have an active public

         22  assistance case are now automatically certified for

         23  the program and can immediately begin their housing

         24  search. Another key improvement from the Section 8

         25  program.
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          2                 As a result of these differences, and

          3  the inclusion of individuals with rent arrears and

          4  criminal records who were excluded from receiving

          5  subsidies under Section 8, many more individuals are

          6  eligible for HSP than were eligible under Section 8.

          7                 To start, I'd like to provide you

          8  with a brief overview of the program.

          9                 HSP is available to families and

         10  individuals in shelter receiving public assistance.

         11  The program provides a five-year rental supplement,

         12  in addition to the shelter grant provided through

         13  public assistance.

         14                 In general, families must reside in

         15  shelter for a minimum of 90 days to qualify for the

         16  supplement. Adult families and single adults must

         17  reside in shelter for nine months within the last 12

         18  months, even if the State has not been consecutive.

         19                 HSP recipients continue to receive

         20  the rental supplement, so long as they remain active

         21  on public assistance. The HSP rental supplement and

         22  PA shelter allowance provide the full cost of the

         23  maximum rent for the first year a recipient is

         24  enrolled in the program.

         25                 After that, the monthly rent

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  supplement is reduced by 20 percent each year. The

          3  underlying shelter grant remains unchanged.

          4                 For example, a family of three with

          5  minor children receives a rental supplement of $525

          6  per month in the first year of the program. On

          7  average the initial step down decreased -- the

          8  initial stepdown results in an increase of

          9  approximately $100 per month. Participants are

         10  responsible for paying the rent differential with

         11  earnings or other resources. The subsidy was

         12  structured to decrease over time to promote

         13  self-sufficiency, thereby furthering a client's goal

         14  of independence.

         15                 HSP clients also have access to

         16  numerous employment and job training programs

         17  available through the Human Resources

         18  Administration, and other Citywide programs and

         19  services.

         20                 Since the inception of the program in

         21  December of 2004, the program has helped 6,584

         22  clients sign leases for permanent housing under HSP.

         23                 This number includes 5,991 families

         24  with children, 198 adult families, and 395 single

         25  adults.
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          2                 In 2005, 4,703 leases were signed by

          3  HSP families. By way of comparison in 2004, under

          4  the Emergency Assistance Rehousing Program, the old

          5  EARP program, 3,788 families were placed into

          6  Section 8 housing. HSP assisted almost 1,000 more

          7  clients obtain permanent housing, as compared to

          8  Section 8 in its first year alone.

          9                 Clients who are moving out have

         10  overwhelmingly been able to maintain their

         11  permanency. As of April 24th of this year, only 68

         12  families with children, two adult families and four

         13  single adults have returned to shelter since the

         14  program's inception.

         15                 Out of a total number of leases

         16  signed since the beginning of the program, only one

         17  percent of clients have returned to shelter.

         18                 Notwithstanding the success, we

         19  recognize the need to understand why these few HSP

         20  clients have come back to shelter, and so we are in

         21  the process of conducting one-on-one interviews with

         22  them to gather information about the circumstances

         23  of their return.

         24                 As with any new program, DHS

         25  anticipated that issues would arise, especially in

                                                            18

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  the initial implementation stages.

          3                 In response we created a workgroup

          4  consisting of our housing specialists, after care

          5  providers, community advocates and DHS staff that

          6  meets monthly to provide a forum to address broad

          7  operational issues.

          8                 Early on the work group identified

          9  two major programmatic concerns: The practice of

         10  side deals, and the apartment review process.

         11                 Since identifying these issues, the

         12  workgroup has been influential in offering

         13  recommendations and changing the way the program

         14  operates with respect to these two items.

         15                 In addition, the work group has

         16  engaged in the public education campaign to educate

         17  the public and users of the program about how the

         18  program works and the clients, landlords and brokers

         19  can expect.

         20                 To address questions and concerns of

         21  landlords, brokers, and tenants involved in the

         22  program, the work group helped to bring about the

         23  DHS Quality Assurance Hot Line. The work group also

         24  planned and held forums where pertinent HSP

         25  information was disseminated and best practices were
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          2  shared among housing specialists, partnering City

          3  agencies, after care providers and legal services

          4  representatives.

          5                 The work group continues to be

          6  charged with studying problems and helping us find

          7  solutions.

          8                 We are aware that concerns have been

          9  raised regarding a small number of landlords and

         10  brokers who attempt to gain additional side deal

         11  payments from HSP clients, despite our repeated

         12  communications to owners, brokers, housing

         13  specialists and clients that arrangements are

         14  prohibited.

         15                 We repeatedly urge clients not to

         16  accept these deals and to notify their housing

         17  specialists immediately. It is DHS's belief that

         18  educating our clients about their rights and

         19  responsibilities as a tenant is their best defense

         20  against unscrupulous landlords and brokers.

         21                 At the time of lease signing, DHS

         22  clients complete a statement of understanding, which

         23  includes acknowledging that these arrangements are

         24  prohibited under HSP. A rider to the lease agreement

         25  prohibits such arrangements also.
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          2                 When circumstances so warrant, the

          3  agency will refer appropriate cases to our Legal

          4  Department and delease with a landlord when it's

          5  been brought to our attention.

          6                 Unfortunately these side deals are

          7  not unique to HSP and can occur with both Section 8

          8  and non-subsidized residences.

          9                 DHS shares the Council's concern that

         10  HSP clients should not be placed in apartments with

         11  unsafe housing conditions. Each HSP apartment

         12  undergoes an examination prior to certification to

         13  ensure it meets basic health and safety

         14  requirements.

         15                 In light of the Council's proposed

         16  legislation, I would like to explain that process.

         17  When an apartment is referred, DHS checks the

         18  Department of Housing Preservation and Development's

         19  database to see if any lead paint complaints or

         20  violations have been issued with respect to the

         21  unit, and the Department of Buildings database to

         22  determine whether a vacate order has been issued or

         23  if a violation for illegally creating or converting

         24  an apartment is present.

         25                 If DHS finds any of the above, it
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          2  will not be cleared for certification or leasing.

          3  DHS examines all apartments prior to lease signing.

          4  DHS assesses a potential HSP apartment, our reviewer

          5  uses a detailed check list to evaluate the

          6  conditions of the apartment.

          7                 The checklist includes necessities

          8  such as ensuring that there is running water, heat

          9  in the months that a landlord is required to provide

         10  heat, a carbon monoxide protector, a smoke detector,

         11  window guards or stoppers, no exposed electrical

         12  wiring, permanently installed light fixtures, and a

         13  lockable mailbox or a control location where clients

         14  can receive mail.

         15                 This is not an exhaustive list of

         16  every component of assessment, but it is intended to

         17  give you a feel for the process.

         18                 If a unit meets the requirements on a

         19  checklist, we will certify the apartment and the

         20  apartment will become available for leasing.

         21                 If certain of the above items are not

         22  met, the apartment will not be certified. These

         23  items include, among other things, a lack of running

         24  water, lack of heat, an absence of window guards or

         25  stoppers, an absence of carbon monoxide detector or
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          2  smoke detector, and exposed electrical wiring.

          3                 These items need to be repaired and

          4  then the unit is reinspected before DHS will certify

          5  the apartment.

          6                 When only minor repairs are required,

          7  such as minor clean-up, leaking faucets or broken

          8  missing tiles in the bathroom or the kitchen, a

          9  landlord must sign a notarized repair agreement

         10  attesting that these repairs will be made prior to

         11  lease signing.

         12                 A copy of the repair agreement is

         13  given to the client at least signing and DHS staff

         14  explains to the client that these are the repairs to

         15  be made.

         16                 If HSP clients contact DHS concerning

         17  the apartment conditions after they have moved into

         18  their apartments, we encourage them to be proactive

         19  and self-advocating and to refer potential

         20  violations to HPD, the Code Enforcement Agency for

         21  all New York City residents that experience Housing

         22  Maintenance Code Violations in their buildings.

         23                 In certain circumstances on a

         24  case-by-case basis, DHS will work directly with the

         25  landlord or facilitate a referral to an after care
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          2  provider or legal services provider.

          3                 Data from the first year of the

          4  program show that clients overwhelmingly remain in

          5  their apartment and have not returned to shelter.

          6                 As I mentioned earlier, only 68

          7  families with children, two adult families and four

          8  single adults have returned to shelter since the

          9  beginning of the program.

         10                 We share the Council's concern for

         11  the safety and well-being of our clients who are

         12  leaving shelter for permanent housing. However,

         13  banning shelter clients from competing for decent

         14  affordable housing with other low-income New Yorkers

         15  would have the likely effect of keeping families in

         16  shelters for increased periods of time.

         17                 In addition, the New York City Law

         18  Department has advised us that Introduction No. 161

         19  is preempted by the State Social Services Law.

         20                 In New York City's tight housing

         21  market, we want our clients to have the opportunity

         22  to secure apartments that are available on the

         23  private market and that meet adequate health and

         24  safety standards.

         25                 In conclusion, I thank you, again,
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          2  for giving me the opportunity to speak to you on the

          3  highlights of the HSP program, a program that we

          4  consider vital to giving homeless New Yorkers the

          5  opportunity to find permanent housing.

          6                 I'm now prepared to take your

          7  questions.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          9  much, Commissioner. And do either of your colleagues

         10  have any testimony?

         11                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: No.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Thank

         13  you.

         14                 I appreciate your straightforward

         15  response on Intro. 161, but I don't feel like you've

         16  addressed some of the issues that the bill obviously

         17  tries to get at, and one of them is the fact that we

         18  have had a history in our City, and I think you know

         19  it from the Scatter Site program and many other

         20  efforts, of despite the on-paper attempt to inspect

         21  and to ensure the quality of units, that, in fact,

         22  we've had a persistent problem of subsidies going to

         23  buildings that have consistent levels of violations.

         24                 So, I guess I appreciate the protocol

         25  you put forward, but I think the bill is stringent
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          2  in part because the history is a little damning for

          3  a number of agencies. It's not to say they're not

          4  trying their best under very difficult

          5  circumstances, but your predecessor sat here many

          6  times discussing with us how soon the Scatter Site

          7  program would be shut down, and to her credit, did

          8  not attempt to sugar coat the dynamic. So, I'm sure

          9  under Scatter Site II there was a very fair protocol

         10  for ensuring the standards of the units, but that

         11  obviously didn't always work in practice. So, I

         12  think this bill is trying to set a higher bar on

         13  purpose because of the history.

         14                 What do you think of that statement?

         15                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I

         16  obviously don't necessarily want to comment on the

         17  motivation. I think that we believe our protocol is

         18  adequate for when clients move in. Clients remain in

         19  their housing for a period of time. Any number of

         20  deteriorations can occur.

         21                 I would say our goal in our protocol

         22  is to ensure that upon moving, the apartment is in

         23  safe and habitable condition. Once the client is in,

         24  we believe it's really the standard responses that

         25  the client needs to make to ensure that the landlord
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          2  maintains the building in appropriate condition, and

          3  that would include contacting the general

          4  enforcement mechanisms that all New Yorkers have at

          5  their disposal, calling 3-1-1, contacting HPD, and

          6  so forth.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I think

          8  another issue that the bill focuses on is the fact

          9  that if you have a unit that you've inspected that

         10  appears to be acceptable in a building with a number

         11  of units that are not acceptable, is that a tenable

         12  situation?

         13                 And a related point, if you have a

         14  building, if you have a unit that's acceptable in a

         15  building where the common areas are not acceptable,

         16  the elevator, the lobby, whatever it might be,

         17  they're safety issues and violations, again, this

         18  bill is I think attempting to get a high bar and

         19  make it consistent and treating it not just as a

         20  question of the unit itself but of the building

         21  overall.

         22                 What do you think of that?

         23                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Actually,

         24  I think I would like my colleague --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Please

                                                            27

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  introduce yourself formally for the record.

          3                 MR. SHULTZ: Certainly. My name is

          4  Harold Shultz, Special Counsel to the Department of

          5  Housing Preservation and Development.

          6                 I think why we share the concern

          7  that's evidenced in Intro. 161, we have a lot of

          8  issues with the mechanism that's used. Frequently

          9  violations are corrected but then not removed from

         10  the record for a variety of reasons. Frequently we

         11  do the repair through our emergency repair program.

         12  Up until very recently we did not have the technical

         13  capability to actually remove from the record

         14  violations that we had corrected. So, many

         15  violations that exist on the record have, in fact,

         16  already been taken care of.

         17                 Though, one of the concerns that we

         18  have about Intro. 161 is that in many situations it

         19  would give a lot of false bars to buildings that

         20  should not actually be barred from the program.

         21                 So, the issue of how to actually

         22  identify a building that's a problem is a fairly

         23  difficult complicated issue, and we don't think that

         24  the B and C violations standard is one that actually

         25  identifies them.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, let me

          3  start by saying I couldn't agree more on the

          4  question of resolved violations that still show on

          5  the record. I mean, this is something that's been a

          6  concern I think for a lot of us because that doesn't

          7  help anyone. That's not fair to the landlord, that's

          8  not fair to tenants who may not be able to take

          9  advantage of units in a building that in fact is

         10  satisfactory but is seen on the record as

         11  unsatisfactory. I couldn't agree more that fixing

         12  that problem or accounting for that problem is

         13  crucial.

         14                 But my question really had to do

         15  with, again, a situation where there is an actual

         16  ongoing problem, not in the unit in question, but in

         17  the building in question that affects all the

         18  tenants of the building.

         19                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Let me

         20  address that by saying we have our reviewers go into

         21  the building and into the units, and they go through

         22  the building, the common areas to get to the

         23  apartment that they're assessing, they don't have

         24  blinders on, they're actually looking at what's

         25  going on in the lobby and the hallway, riding the
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          2  elevators, walking up the steps. So, the checklist

          3  that we've utilized really does have to do with the

          4  conditions in the apartment, and that's what we're

          5  actually looking at and certifying.

          6                 But just on a common sense level,

          7  just as if you and I were going in to look for an

          8  apartment that we might rent, if we find something

          9  unsuitable in a building that we think creates an

         10  unsafe situation, the apartment won't go through.

         11                 Our checklist, though, as you note,

         12  does really only focus on the apartment conditions,

         13  because I think that's where we think our clients

         14  leaving shelter should be competing with all the

         15  other people looking for low-income housing in the

         16  City.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, again, I

         18  would appreciate, and I would assume that your

         19  inspectors take the common sense approach and look

         20  at what's around.  On this side of the process,

         21  we're lawmakers, and we make laws to codify things

         22  that might be informal otherwise, and I'm always a

         23  little worried when I hear in any administration

         24  people say, you know, we've got it covered, we've

         25  worked it out, we know what we're doing. I respect

                                                            30

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  that. But I think there is nothing like a clear set

          3  of standards to ensure consistent performance. So,

          4  it's a little interesting to me that you would have

          5  measures in your evaluation that look at the common

          6  areas when it comes to health and safety issues. Why

          7  would that not be -- one of the goals of this

          8  legislation is to make it crystal clear what we're

          9  trying to look for, why would it not be helpful to

         10  say that common areas and building-wide dynamics are

         11  crucial to consider whether it's an appropriate

         12  setting for these folks?

         13                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I think,

         14  and I'm now looking actually at one of our forms

         15  that we use to look through an apartment and it, I

         16  need to correct the record that we do at some points

         17  look at some of the issues in the common area. For

         18  instance, interior stairs and halls hazard-free. So,

         19  as we're going through the building to the apartment

         20  we do look.

         21                 I think that our protocol does

         22  address sufficiently areas of interest to the health

         23  and safety of clients moving into apartments.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Are you saying

         25  that's a standard that if, for example, there was an
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          2  unsafe situation in the elevator, the hallway, the

          3  lobby, whatever it may be, that that would be

          4  grounds for potentially rejecting an apartment?

          5                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes. Just

          6  one second, I want to clarify that response.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You can add to

          8  that yes. We'll give you a comma.

          9                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Rick, do

         10  you want to come up and answer?

         11                 I'm going to turn the mike over to

         12  Rick Chandler, our Assistant Commissioner in the

         13  Family Services Division who oversees the inspection

         14  process.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Please

         16  introduce yourself for the record.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHANDLER: Good

         18  morning, Chairman DeBlasio. My name is Rick

         19  Chandler. I'm Assistant Commissioner for Housing

         20  Policy and Placement at the Department of Homeless

         21  Services, and the apartment reviewers and inspectors

         22  work for me and we do talk about this frequently.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Could you move

         24  the microphone closer, please.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHANDLER:
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          2  Sure.

          3                 We do talk about this frequently and

          4  they do consider the interior of the building and

          5  the lobby areas, and, yes, they consider the

          6  hazardous conditions, such as tiles being misplaced,

          7  or if there's debris, or any material that's being

          8  stored inappropriately in the areas, the public

          9  areas, while they're going from the front door to

         10  the apartment.

         11                 They don't walk the entire building,

         12  but as they're going from the front door to the

         13  apartment, they look at those common areas. They

         14  don't look at the condition of the elevator because

         15  they're not qualified to do that. That's not our

         16  role. So, they would walk the public areas.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No, I

         18  appreciate the expertise involved. I'm saying, I'm

         19  using that as an example.

         20                 Let me just ask you very straight

         21  forward. If there is an obvious health and safety

         22  problem to the eye of your inspector, they're level

         23  of expertise, is that grounds for at least

         24  temporarily rejecting the use of a unit in that

         25  building? Is that part of your formula? Or are you
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          2  saying sometimes they might, sometimes they might

          3  not?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHANDLER: We

          5  think it's part of a formula, and when we have a

          6  criteria on this list it says interior of building,

          7  and there's areas here that talk about the interior,

          8  stairs, the fire exit areas, access ways to the

          9  unit. And, so, yes, to answer your question, if they

         10  saw a hazardous area, that would be grounds for

         11  blocking that approval for that apartment, and it

         12  would be noted and we would ask that it be

         13  corrected.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Excellent.

         15                 Okay, now, another element of the

         16  thinking behind this legislation is again accepting

         17  for the very real dynamic of violations that have

         18  been cured that still show on the record, and that's

         19  a problem we all would like to see solved for

         20  everyone's benefit, but where there actually are

         21  substantial numbers of violations in a building that

         22  are real, but do not affect the specific unit in

         23  question, I guess I could understand the theory that

         24  says, well, that unit may be great, may continue to

         25  be great and, you know, we need every unit we can
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          2  get our hands on, and I appreciate that. But at the

          3  same time, I guess if you had a substantial number

          4  of violations and you've seen the standards here,

          5  it's an average of two per unit for larger buildings

          6  and three per unit for smaller buildings, total for

          7  the building, that ends up being a lot of

          8  violations, and if they're even grouped in certain

          9  parts of the building but not in others, that

         10  doesn't give you a warm and fuzzy feeling, like it

         11  may not ultimately be a problem in the unit that

         12  you're working with.

         13                 So, again, I think there's a common

         14  sense element to this legislation that says if a

         15  landlord truly has consistently had serious

         16  violations and they haven't been solved, isn't it

         17  just a matter of time before they effect these other

         18  units?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHANDLER: Let

         20  me answer that in this way; and once again, I know

         21  that there's a certain, there's a certain

         22  attractiveness to simplicity of simply looking at

         23  violations and saying violations exist.

         24                 But in the real world the story for

         25  any particular building is far more complicated. So,

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  when we talk about a standard for say two or three

          3  violations, B or C violations per unit, frankly to

          4  the extent that we use that internally at HPD, we

          5  basically only use it as a screening standard. We

          6  then go look at the building and say, you know,

          7  what's the story on this building, and basically

          8  what we do is we walk the halls, we go into a number

          9  of apartments and try to determine whether or not

         10  this is a building that's basically in good shape,

         11  not in good shape. The violations don't always truly

         12  tell the story of what's going on at a building.

         13                 In fact, what we do is, what DHS to

         14  some extent does, which is we go take a look at the

         15  building, and if we see a building that's in decent

         16  condition, then we develop our remedies for that

         17  building in a different way because then this may

         18  just be an owner who doesn't know how to do the

         19  paperwork to get violations removed, so that

         20  technically they're not finally fixed. This may be

         21  an owner who needs a loan to do rehab, has the best

         22  will in the world and for whatever reason doesn't

         23  know how to go about doing that.

         24                 So, violations alone we find in our

         25  experience doesn't really tell you that story. You
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          2  usually need to go look at the building. That's what

          3  DHS does and HSP.

          4                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: And I

          5  just want to sort of echo, I think, Chairman, the

          6  way you describe the purpose also for us is that we

          7  believe clients leaving shelter are looking for

          8  independence and a return to the community, and if

          9  the apartment they're going into passes our

         10  examination, despite some issues perhaps with the

         11  building, then they really need to be able to

         12  compete on the open market with everybody else

         13  looking for affordable housing, and to hold our

         14  shelter clients to a standard that is much higher

         15  than for the normal every day client looking for

         16  housing would really impede their progress to return

         17  to the community.

         18                 So, we do want to make sure they go

         19  to safe inhabitable dwellings and that they are

         20  stable in their lives as they transition back to

         21  permanence and independence, but I don't necessarily

         22  agree that it should be a higher standard than

         23  anyone else moving in the City.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: The problem

         25  here is, and I think Speaker Quinn addressed this in
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          2  her comments, there has been a dynamic over the last

          3  four years, I don't think -- I appreciate what you

          4  just said, I don't think we sat here in this

          5  Committee thinking, you know, you're trying to in

          6  some way punish people who happen to be poor. I

          7  understand that, and I'm not sure we could have said

          8  that in the previous administration.

          9                 But at the same time, I think there's

         10  been a bit of tension between the Council and the

         11  Administration on some questions of reality and

         12  every day practice and what's the best way to get

         13  things done, and no one doubts that, you know, we

         14  need every available unit we can get.

         15                 And by the way, your predecessor had

         16  to make that argument around scatter site, and I

         17  know she made it with sort of a clenched jaw, that

         18  she was not comfortable with what was happening with

         19  all those units and yet, she was pretty honest about

         20  the fact that she didn't have the capacity not to

         21  use them at some times.

         22                 And so, I'm not blind to that fact. I

         23  think what we're saying here is, we are unconvinced

         24  because of actual history, because of scatter site,

         25  because of the history with HASA, because of a lot
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          2  of things we've seen, that less rigor is the best

          3  way to get the right result for the client and for

          4  the taxpayer.

          5                 You know, I would not want a focus

          6  group of taxpayers to go over the history of the

          7  scatter site program. I think they'd stop paying

          8  their tax bills, you know, if they really went

          9  through all the chapter and verse.

         10                 So, we have an obligation as the

         11  legislature, as the oversight entity, to say not,

         12  you know, are we in any way trying to inhibit you

         13  from getting your job done or getting the most

         14  quality units available. No, of course not, and we

         15  appreciate your trying to do that.

         16                 But to say we can't ignore the

         17  history of money, public money being spent in a way

         18  that makes us feel that we're not getting the

         19  quality for our dollar, we're not serving the

         20  client, we're not serving the taxpayer. So, we have

         21  come forward with legislation that tries to

         22  purposely set a high bar. And, yes, you're right,

         23  simplicity is a double-edged sword, but on the other

         24  hand, clear, high standards have the benefit of

         25  making everyone work harder to reach those
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          2  standards.

          3                 So, I don't want to debate further. I

          4  think, again, I appreciate your response, and I read

          5  your response to say at this moment you're not in

          6  agreement with Intro. 161 but open to ongoing

          7  discussion about it, but I just want to be clear

          8  that, you know, I think it's going to take more than

          9  just good protocol for us to feel comfortable that

         10  these issues are being addressed. And I think it's

         11  going to take more than just the definition of, you

         12  know, the challenge on the question of definition of

         13  violations. You're right that it doesn't always tell

         14  us everything, but it does tell us something. And to

         15  ignore a consistent pattern of violations in a

         16  building just strikes me as, you know, I'm just now

         17  speaking as someone trying to exercise common sense,

         18  it strikes me as again possibly not the best thing

         19  to do for the client or for the taxpayer.

         20                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I think

         21  -- well, let me say the City does remain open and

         22  willing to work with the Council on discussing

         23  different or better standards or protocols for HSP

         24  clients, and I think that work is ongoing, and

         25  hopefully that will yield a mutually agreeable set
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          2  of standards.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

          4                 I want to ask you about a couple of

          5  other elements of the program beyond the

          6  legislation. But first I would like to welcome my

          7  colleague, Council Member Gale Brewer of Manhattan,

          8  and if at any point she has questions, she will jump

          9  in.

         10                 When then Commissioner Gibbs

         11  introduced the concept of HSP in the first hearing

         12  that we had on it, clearly there were very

         13  substantial goals for how many people it would

         14  serve, and for the impact it would have on, you

         15  know, hopefully positive impact it would have on a

         16  number of folks going into shelter. So, I think the

         17  question at this point is have we really achieved

         18  those goals, and are we on a track to achieve them

         19  in the future?

         20                 From just the numbers I've seen and

         21  the numbers you reported, a substantial number of

         22  people have taken advantage of the program for sure,

         23  and your retention rate is significant and positive.

         24  But at the same time, I don't think we've seen a

         25  direct correlation to the number of people in
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          2  shelter and how long people are staying in shelter.

          3                 Can you address that?

          4                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes. I

          5  think at the inception of the program the goals were

          6  varied, and I think we've been achieving those

          7  goals. I don't think we would have ever tried to

          8  quantify the actual impact we would have thought

          9  that the creation of HSP would have brought about on

         10  the shelter census or on the demand for shelter.

         11  That's a complicated set of equations that filter

         12  into who comes in and who looks for shelter. The

         13  goal with HSP I think was to create a City

         14  alternative to having shelter clients leave for

         15  Section 8 and NYCHA housing.

         16                 And to put that resource, when and if

         17  that resource comes available in Section 8 and NYCHA

         18  back to the community, so that people who were

         19  struggling with homelessness or being at risk of

         20  homelessness, did not have to seek shelter in order

         21  to get those longer term housing resources. And

         22  that's what HSP has done.

         23                 I think that's done very well. It was

         24  created with a step-down. As we all know, it was

         25  created with a five-year limit in time in order to
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          2  say to shelter clients when you leave shelter, we

          3  want you to attain independence.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I appreciate

          5  that it's hard to analyze whether there is or isn't

          6  a correlation, but I'm not sure I'm comfortable with

          7  what you just said. Let me just ask you some numbers

          8  to see if we're on the same page.

          9                 HSP was introduced Fall 2004, right?

         10  So, a little under two years, a year and a half,

         11  let's say. Can you just -- I know you've been in the

         12  agency awhile, can you just give me roughly where we

         13  stood in terms of the shelter census a year and a

         14  half ago versus today?

         15                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I can

         16  tell you roughly where we declined about five

         17  percent. Anything more than that I would really have

         18  to consult and get back to you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's fine.

         20  So, let's use that for the moment. So, five percent,

         21  if my math skills are working, is 2,000 or 3,000

         22  people perhaps?

         23                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: In terms

         24  of total --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Total number of
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          2  people in shelter.

          3                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, let's, and

          5  I think from the numbers you gave, that's about, is

          6  that about half the number of people who have

          7  utilized HSP? I think you're saying here since the

          8  inception, 6,584 clients have signed leases under

          9  HSP?

         10                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Those

         11  would include households with varying numbers of

         12  people.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right, clients.

         14                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: So, the

         15  total number of individuals served would be higher,

         16  but those are households.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No, I'm sorry,

         18  this is your testimony today. It says clients, has

         19  helped 6,584 clients. You're using the word "client"

         20  as family?

         21                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: It can

         22  include, yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, I'm

         24  sorry. I think that makes the case even more then.

         25                 If that 6,000 number extrapolates to
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          2  8,000, 9,000, whatever it is when you actually look

          3  at people, and 2,000 or 3,000 fewer people are in

          4  shelter, that doesn't say there is no correlation,

          5  but it certainly doesn't suggest there is the kind

          6  of correlation that might originally have been

          7  suggested.

          8                 I remember having this conversation

          9  with then Commissioner Gibbs a number of times, and

         10  the whole concept was that a lot of people were

         11  going into the shelter system to get to Section 8

         12  for example, and that this would provide an

         13  alternative path, and, thus, almost automatically

         14  reduce the shelter population equivalently.

         15                 Now, this suggests that that's not

         16  the case, that your shelter population is really not

         17  that changed, even though thank God, you know,

         18  people are taking advantage of HSP, as I said, it's

         19  an alternative to Section 8 we needed and that's

         20  great but it doesn't seem to be truly affecting your

         21  shelter population.

         22                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: In terms

         23  of the actual impact to quantify the impact, I don't

         24  think I'm able at this point to do so. A lot of

         25  other things have been happening in the agency
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          2  during the same period of time. We've created PATH,

          3  our new intake facility. We've changed our

          4  eligibility process slightly. So, there have been

          5  other intervening or contributing factors.

          6                 I don't know that I can conclude from

          7  this whether the impact of HSP was what was intended

          8  or not. And, frankly, even at the end of the day,

          9  even if I assume that it's not meeting that

         10  intention, we still need to serve homeless families.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I think I've

         12  said clearly that we're not denying the value of HSP

         13  and we support that. And I commend the

         14  Administration for being resourceful enough to come

         15  up with something as, you know, Rome was burning

         16  around us, from the federal housing situation. But

         17  at the same time, you're a very numerically focused

         18  agency. I know this from years of experience now.

         19  And you can't have it both ways. You can't pitch a

         20  program to the world and say this is going to have

         21  this effect. You have numbers now for a year and a

         22  half, which is a pretty decent measure, to judge by,

         23  and now say you're not sure if there's a

         24  correlation.

         25                 I think it would be honest to say,
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          2  from what I'm seeing, and tell me if you disagree,

          3  it would be honest to say it's a good thing unto

          4  itself, HSP, but we're not seeing the impact on

          5  shelter population, because bluntly, some of the

          6  other, you know, quote/unquote reforms that you've

          7  talked about, in terms of intake and screening, were

          8  also meant to possibly, you know, make sure that

          9  people who did not belong in shelter didn't go into

         10  shelter.

         11                 So, if anything, all of that should

         12  be leading you into a lower and lower shelter

         13  population, and if that's not what HSP is doing,

         14  that doesn't make HSP bad per se, it means it's not

         15  achieving one of its original goals.

         16                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I think

         17  that I would not necessarily agree with your

         18  supposition about the other forms we've done at

         19  intake with the intent to decrease the population

         20  coming in. I think it was about making it a better

         21  process and really do finding and serving families

         22  who are homeless. So, I don't necessarily agree.

         23                 I think if we're looking to give you

         24  an answer as to whether or not HSP has decreased the

         25  population in the shelter, I would really have to
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          2  take a look at the numbers and get back to you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm going to

          4  make this simple because I respect you greatly, and

          5  I appreciate your history and very honest answers to

          6  this Committee. I cannot, in any way, shape or form,

          7  agree with what you just said, but I'm going to let

          8  that go for now. It was clearly about not only

          9  trying to reduce the number of people in shelter. I

         10  think, yes, it was about making a more humane

         11  process, a more intelligent process, a process that

         12  got all different agencies coordinated. I couldn't

         13  agree more. But it was also about trying to reduce

         14  the number of people in shelter. And you could use

         15  the most charitable or least charitable

         16  interpretation of the why, but it clearly was about

         17  that. Just like HSP was billed as trying to reduce

         18  the number of people in shelter who are going to

         19  shelter for a reason other than an emergency need,

         20  who are going into shelter to try and get to a

         21  different goal.

         22                 So, after a year and a half

         23  respectfully, and I say this to the whole

         24  Administration, when you have an oversight hearing

         25  called to talk about the program after a year and a
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          2  half, to not be able to address the key items and

          3  elements that you billed it as originally, is not

          4  real brave, in my view.

          5                 Oversight is supposed to say, did you

          6  meet your goals? And your agency and the

          7  Administration set the goals. And you're always

          8  numerical. So, we're asking you, did the numbers add

          9  up, and did you meet your goals? And you're not

         10  giving us the full answer, and I ask that you get us

         11  the full answer.

         12                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: We will

         13  do that. I do now have data in front of me that I

         14  can speak to you with a little bit more specificity

         15  on, and let you know that we have had about a 25

         16  percent decrease in the number of families with

         17  children in this year, as compared to last year.

         18  This is March of '06 to March of '05. We are down to

         19  6,500 families from over 7,300 last year. So, to

         20  some degree, whether you attribute that to the

         21  creation of HSP and the delinking, that's the leap I

         22  was not necessarily willing to make without further

         23  study.

         24                 The numbers I can give you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. I think
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          2  that it deserves further study, and I'll just make a

          3  quick parallel that we debated for almost four years

          4  with the previous Commissioner on homeless

          5  prevention, and I don't mean to be in any way

          6  inconsiderate, but for the first year or two, the

          7  Council was basically told homeless prevention

          8  didn't work in a variety of ways, and then there was

          9  this glimmer of hope that maybe it worked, and then

         10  there were pilots, and then the pilots were proven

         11  to work, and then the Commissioner came back,

         12  started as a real advocate for homeless prevention.

         13  And that's fine, I mean people have to go through

         14  their path. But I think numerical analysis cuts both

         15  ways, and I think just like it's fair for the agency

         16  to have had to go through its own journey to come to

         17  the realization that homeless prevention works, it

         18  was a good use of funds and a good deal for the

         19  taxpayer and a good impact on the client, you know,

         20  put HSP through the same ringer, and figure out

         21  what's working and what's not, so that if it is not

         22  in fact discouraging people from coming into shelter

         23  as a path to the long-term solution, let's know

         24  that. It does not invalidate HSP, but let's

         25  understand what it is and what it isn't.
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          2                 Similar point, then we'll move to

          3  other things.

          4                 The length of shelter stay. Clearly,

          5  another part of the billing around HSP was if you

          6  were not going to have so many people coming in for

          7  a reason that was to get to permanent housing, you

          8  had an opportunity to therefore reduce the length of

          9  stay. I think the figures we've seen suggest there

         10  has not been a reduction and maybe even been an

         11  increase in the length of stay, could you speak to

         12  that?

         13                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes, the

         14  goal for HSP was to promote a decrease in the length

         15  of stay because in fact HSP, especially for families

         16  with children, was going to be -- is available on a

         17  quicker time frame than Section 8 was. You need to

         18  have 90 days in shelter before you qualify for HSP,

         19  and then with the process to link to an apartment it

         20  should be much, it should be somewhat quicker.

         21                 In fact, the numbers of length of

         22  stay have been slightly lower, but seem to be

         23  stabilizing now, and we think that effect is that

         24  some number of families are coming in and receiving

         25  HSP and leaving quickly, as was intended, and who
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          2  that has left behind are the long-term stayers in

          3  the shelter who are harder to move out to

          4  permanency.

          5                 So, it is having the intended effect

          6  I think for the newer cohorts coming in and

          7  receiving HSP. So, the overall length of stay has

          8  been lower and not as much maybe as we would like it

          9  to be, but in fact, new clients are coming in and

         10  moving out sooner.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, that's a

         12  hopeful answer, and what we're going to do is send

         13  you a letter just asking all those numerical

         14  questions so that you can lay out to us any

         15  correlation you can make, both in terms of number of

         16  people in shelter and length of stay to the

         17  existence of HSP, and we can see your numerical

         18  connections, and then we can go from there.

         19                 Okay, the other question I wanted to

         20  focus on for a moment, and I know Gale Brewer has a

         21  question, let me just ask this quickly, people who

         22  are at the end of their time on public assistance

         23  talk to me about how we are accounting for that

         24  dynamic. Someone goes into HSP while on public

         25  assistance, and then they're at the point where
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          2  they're moving off public assistance; what are we

          3  doing to ensure continuity and not having a sort of

          4  collapse of the progress we're making so people end

          5  up in shelter or some other bad outcome?

          6                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Right now

          7  when clients leave shelter, when they leave shelter

          8  on HSP or otherwise, we do an assessment as they --

          9  we do sort of a quick risk analysis of when they

         10  leave shelter, and based on that we determine

         11  whether or not we should refer them to after care

         12  providers that are now in operation. They're mostly

         13  funded by the State, but the City does contribute

         14  something.

         15                 That's one of the tools we use to

         16  help make sure the transition to permanency goes

         17  well.

         18                 And I think for beyond that, Jane,

         19  would you like to?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Just

         21  reintroduce for the sake of the record.

         22                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         23  CORBETT: Jane Corbett, Executive Deputy

         24  Commissioner, Human Resources Administration.

         25                 Are you asking whether somebody is
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          2  reaching their limit on TANF of 60 months? Or are

          3  you asking about whether they're going off because

          4  they're going to be employed?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Start with

          6  reaching their TANF limit. Let's do both, so I'm

          7  clear.

          8                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          9  CORBETT: Right.

         10                 Well, as you know, in New York State

         11  we have SafetyNet, so it really would not impact on

         12  HSP.

         13                 But if they were going to employment,

         14  then they would no longer be on public assistance,

         15  assuming that the employment was at a high enough

         16  income that they would no longer be on public

         17  assistance.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: How do you

         19  avoid the trap of it's high enough to go off public

         20  assistance, but you know, the rent levels are

         21  clearly not going to go down in this environment,

         22  they'll be continuing to go up, and the subsidy is

         23  going down over the five years from HSP.

         24                 So, what makes sure we don't run into

         25  kind of a catch-22 that it's good someone got a job,
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          2  but the job is not paying a lot and the subsidy

          3  levels are going down year-by-year?

          4                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          5  CORBETT: As you know, we, "we" meaning Department of

          6  Homeless Services and Human Resources

          7  Administration, did request of the State a work

          8  support program. We testified about that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And what's the

         10  latest about that?

         11                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         12  CORBETT: It's still under discussion.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, you're not

         14  projecting whether you think that will happen or not

         15  happen?

         16                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         17  CORBETT: No.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         19                 So, right now if the State has a, I

         20  will editorialize, has a questionable record of

         21  helping low-income people, if the State did not move

         22  in the direction of filling that gap, then you do

         23  have a potential catch-22 where self-sufficiency

         24  ultimately negatively affects the client because of

         25  the step-down in the rent subsidies from HSP?
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          2                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          3  CORBETT: There's a potential but this is where we

          4  also would have in working with our vendors and

          5  working then with Small Business Services to improve

          6  their, whether it's training or education or

          7  whatever, to hope that they could move up in a

          8  timely manner and become self-sufficient.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You know,

         10  Commissioner, and I appreciate over the years

         11  working with you, and, again, I know you're trying

         12  to do the right thing and all with a lot of these

         13  issues, but I guess it gets back to the point I made

         14  before. I always found there to be a tension on the

         15  question of what's the right kind of support to

         16  provide and I've always felt, just take it back to

         17  homeless prevention for a moment that, you know, if

         18  you kept someone away from homelessness, and you

         19  invested a certain amount of public money to do

         20  that, and the person ultimately was in a situation

         21  to be self sufficient, that you just help that

         22  family immensely and you help the taxpayer

         23  immensely, because it's clearly an economically

         24  better outcome for everyone.

         25                 Well, this is the same point. You've
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          2  gone to the trouble, and we appreciate it, of

          3  starting an HSP program, the goal is not just

          4  momentary self-sufficiency, but long-term

          5  self-sufficiency, and so it's not like, I mean there

          6  is almost this rigidity in some of the

          7  Administration's thinking that you can never seen,

          8  and I won't even go into the waiver issue, but that

          9  you can never seem to be overly generous, and so

         10  even when you have a chance to help someone finally

         11  get on a long-term path to self-sufficiency, you're

         12  going to stay with a rigid step-down system. I'd be

         13  more comfortable with the concept if there were some

         14  kind of accommodation for other situations.

         15                 For example, if someone gets to a job

         16  that does not allow them to continue public

         17  assistance, but it's not a long-term job that

         18  provides true self-sufficiency, it's great that

         19  there's training programs, but that's not the

         20  answer. That's a step perhaps, that's not the

         21  answer, and I think the goal would be, let's really

         22  get people on a path to self-sufficiency. And I hate

         23  to use your own Mayor against you, but one thing the

         24  Mayor said in some of his speeches on social

         25  services issues, which I really appreciate, was

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  about outcomes and testing the outcomes.

          3                 So, it would seem to me if a family,

          4  over the up to five years of HSP actually got to

          5  self-sufficiency and could eventually handle the

          6  step down at some point and then totally on their

          7  own and everything was working, everybody wins. But

          8  if in year two or year three the fact that the

          9  step-down, in combination with the loss of public

         10  assistance because they found a job, throws off the

         11  equation, so you now created new -- you had control

         12  of the situation and now there is instability that

         13  can set that family on the wrong path, that just

         14  seems, you know, penny-wise and pound foolish. It's

         15  like, you know, a small expenditure, and shouldn't

         16  it be about what really gets each family to

         17  self-sufficiency?

         18                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER:

         19  Obviously, yes, we want self-sufficiency and we want

         20  permanency for our families leaving shelter. We

         21  share your concern. The City does want and is still

         22  working towards a work support. That's not a battle

         23  that we've given up on by any chance. We're happy

         24  the reasons that you've articulated. However, I do

         25  want to remind everybody, the numbers so far about
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          2  families returning to shelter are actually good. So,

          3  I don't think there is such a sense of panic around

          4  this yet, and I think there is time to say this

          5  five-year program with a step-down needs to remain

          6  in place, although we are looking still for the work

          7  support piece.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay,

          9  Commissioner, I'm just going to say one more thing,

         10  and I know Gale Brewer has questions.

         11                 I have very good hearing, so I heard

         12  some people say a few things just now, and I don't

         13  think they are statisticians, and I know I am not,

         14  but there is an obvious response. The program is a

         15  year and a half old and the full effect of the

         16  step-down clearly has not been felt, and on top of

         17  that, the number of people who might be going off

         18  public assistance because of having gotten a job,

         19  you know, that's only beginning to be felt, and

         20  probably the best point in that process is right

         21  when you get the job, and while your HSP subsidy is

         22  relatively high, and where it gets more tenuous is,

         23  can you keep the job, does the job in any way give

         24  you a ladder to better earnings, you know, before

         25  the step-down occurs.

                                                            59

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 So, I appreciate your answer, but if

          3  your numbers of retention are not -- if your number

          4  of people going back to shelter were not very, very

          5  low right now, this program would be totally screwed

          6  up. This is the time when it should be very, very

          7  low.

          8                 The real point when the rubber will

          9  hit the road is in the next couple of years, as the

         10  full effect of all of this is felt.

         11                 And I'm just going to say the

         12  obvious, I hope the State comes through, and we want

         13  to work with you in that in any way we can, but if

         14  it doesn't, you may need to reconsider your

         15  standards, or sort of how rigidly you want to apply

         16  your standards, because you may be missing an

         17  opportunity to really help families take the next

         18  step if you don't.

         19                 Council Member Gale Brewer.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 Just following on what Council Member

         23  DeBlasio asked on this. This is a very complicated

         24  program. I mean, when you listen to it and you're

         25  standing from Mars and you're looking at us, it's so
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          2  complicated. And the reason -- and I think one of

          3  the questions I have is how does the City track

          4  families who have received the first annual 20

          5  percent reduction in their supplement, HSP, and how

          6  many families are at this position, and what

          7  information do we have about those families

          8  abilities to pay the increased portion of the rent?

          9                 And I guess I would just want you to

         10  walk me through, because I know when I talk to

         11  families, I know you just indicated there are only

         12  68, I believe, who returned to the system, to the

         13  homeless shelter system, but also people are

         14  petrified of going into HSP because they're afraid

         15  that this catch-22 might exist.

         16                 It's a very hard concept to

         17  understand. Those of us who are working, you know,

         18  we don't often get an increase in salary, hundreds

         19  of people come into my office literally every single

         20  month because their salary is not keeping up with

         21  their rent.

         22                 So, it's hard to understand, going

         23  into this program and being able to come out of it.

         24  I understand that you have 6,000 who have signed up,

         25  but it is, it's a hard concept to understand that
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          2  your rent will keep up with this step-down, or your

          3  ability to pay will keep up with this step-down.

          4                 So, I'm just wondering, are you

          5  tracking the families for the first 20 percent, when

          6  did that kick in, and how do you follow-up, and what

          7  are some numbers?

          8                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: We are

          9  tracking the families with the first 20 percent.

         10                 The 20 percent would really, it kicks

         11  in 12 months once you've started the programs.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, how many

         13  families, obviously you started about a year and a

         14  half ago, so how many families have experienced the

         15  20 percent reduction in their supplement?

         16                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I

         17  actually apologize, I don't have that with me. We

         18  will get that for you.

         19                 It hits every family, obviously, at

         20  the 12th month.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I understand

         22  that. Some portion of that 6,000 households it's

         23  hit?

         24                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. But you
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          2  don't know how many?

          3                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I don't

          4  have it at hand.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          6                 And how do we know that those

          7  families, maybe those were the 68, I have no idea,

          8  who weren't able to make that cutoff. What I'm also

          9  looking at, looking at your DHS, critical activity

         10  report, it appears that 158 families enrolled in HSP

         11  in January 2005; is this correct?

         12                 In other words, this would be the

         13  number that might at least hit that year-long

         14  period?

         15                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And all of

         17  those have been successful, or those are the numbers

         18  that you're going to get to us?

         19                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: When you

         20  say successful --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Well, in other

         22  words, when they hit their 20 percent reduction in

         23  HSP, was that a problem for them?

         24                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: What we

         25  can say is the number who have returned to shelter,
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          2  the 68, not all have returned because of a situation

          3  of income. Some may have returned for other reasons.

          4  I think that like all clients on public assistance,

          5  the expectation is that it's for a short-term or a

          6  defined term as they move towards independence.

          7                 The clients who left in January of

          8  2005, all things being equal, in January 2006 would

          9  experience the 20 percent.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Correct.

         11                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: If they

         12  were receiving HSP continuously and public

         13  assistance continuously for those 12 months, they

         14  would have had the step-down take effect in January

         15  of 2006.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right. But we

         17  just don't know what the ability was, what the

         18  number is in terms of being able to continue in the

         19  program? You're going to get us those numbers.

         20                 I'm trying to find out, with the 20

         21  percent step-down, how many families are in that

         22  position, and what information do we have about

         23  their ability to pay the increased portion of their

         24  rent?

         25                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: In terms
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          2  of the ability that they have to pay their increased

          3  portion of their rent, the only way that we would

          4  really know that that's a problem is if they came

          5  forward, or if they somehow let us know. Like all

          6  families on public assistance, the payments are made

          7  to the vendor, and it proceeds --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I understand.

          9                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: --

         10  Automatically.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So you don't

         12  track that then? If there's no problem, you don't

         13  track it.

         14                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I

         15  wouldn't say we don't track it. If we're not told of

         16  an individual situation, there's no response for us.

         17  We, along with HRA, do look at the numbers of

         18  clients who are in HSP and their journey through the

         19  process.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         21                 The other issue is, of course,

         22  domestic violence. When this program was initiated,

         23  many of the domestic violence groups came to us very

         24  concerned because of the process. So, I'm just

         25  wondering how has those who are exiting the
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          2  emergency DV shelter system, how has that issue been

          3  addressed?

          4                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: It's been

          5  very successful so far.

          6                 In fact, where a year before, a year

          7  and a half before where we were tracking Section 8

          8  and NYCHA, our best years we would get 350, 375

          9  clients moved out of a shelter into Section 8 or

         10  NYCHA apartments.

         11                 However, the first year of HSP, we

         12  moved over 600 clients into HSP. And it's not only

         13  that they were able to move out, they were able to

         14  move out much more quickly.

         15                 I mean, we don't rush them out if

         16  they're still dealing with domestic violence issues,

         17  and we obviously have the added caveat of having to

         18  have safety issues for the location in relation to

         19  the abuser.

         20                 However, we still have moved that

         21  many out, and once they're ready to move out, the

         22  time has been very short between applying, finding

         23  an apartment and moving out.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         25                 And do you meet regularly with some
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          2  of the domestic violence groups on this issue? Like

          3  you have some kind of an advisory group from the

          4  domestic violence groups on this topic?

          5                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: On this

          6  and other topics.  We meet monthly with all the

          7  shelter directors.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So you're

          9  saying that the domestic violence groups have not

         10  had a problem with this implementation?

         11                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: No, I

         12  think they've been finding it very successful, but

         13  we have constant dialogue with them, and, you know,

         14  they have --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         16                 And the other issue, we obviously

         17  have families that are reuniting with their

         18  children, in terms of foster care, how does that

         19  proceed in terms of HSP? Are there any glitches? Is

         20  it easier, et cetera?

         21                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: ACS

         22  administers that program.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I know that.

         24                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: And as

         25  far as we know, and we do meet regularly with them,
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          2  it's going fine, well, they're finding apartments.

          3  It's for a select number of type of families, those

          4  who are --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Able to

          6  reunite.

          7                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: -- Able

          8  to reunite.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. So,

         10  you're feeling there's no problem with that at all?

         11                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         13                 Just what happens is, you know, I'm

         14  just looking at my computer here, obviously April

         15  3rd the Daily News had an editorial I guess brought

         16  to -- issue brought to their attention by some of

         17  the non-profits working with families, and it sounds

         18  great, but there are just -- I think that clarity is

         19  a problem and I'm also very concerned about the way

         20  in which it's being implemented.

         21                 It just sounds great when you talk,

         22  but I know that from talking to families, there are

         23  many, many glitches.

         24                 I think maybe even, maybe the Chair

         25  has this already, and just literally kind of a FAQ
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          2  on how the program works. Because there are many

          3  different agencies operating. You've got SSI issues,

          4  foster care issues, step-down issues, et cetera.

          5  Something that is very clear to everybody exactly

          6  how this program works. Now, maybe the Chair has it,

          7  maybe the Council has it, but that would certainly

          8  be helpful for me.

          9                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: We can

         10  work on that, yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Because I

         12  don't know even if some of the providers that are

         13  moving families from the shelter system into HSP

         14  have that.

         15                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: When

         16  clients are leaving with HSP, really, as soon as

         17  they come into shelter and realize they're going to

         18  start looking for an apartment and going out to

         19  permanency, there's a lot of work that gets done

         20  around these issues in the shelter, with their case

         21  managers, with their housing specialists, even at

         22  lease signing, we really do want the client to be as

         23  fully informed about the expectations of the program

         24  and the requirement of the program as possible.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And how many
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          2  owners just generally participate in this?

          3                 Like you have a number, is it sort of

          4  the same owners, different owners of buildings?

          5                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Hold on

          6  one second.

          7                 So far during Fiscal Year '06, there

          8  have been 2,200 buildings that we placed HSP clients

          9  into.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: In all five

         11  boroughs?

         12                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         14                 And do you know how many owners that

         15  is, or just the number of buildings?

         16                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: We don't

         17  actually. I don't have the information on that

         18  number of buildings.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And how do you

         20  find the buildings? Is it buildings that are, you

         21  know, just voluntarily coming to you kind of? Or HPD

         22  does outreach?

         23                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: We

         24  actually do outreach. We at DHS do outreach through

         25  our network of brokers that we deal with in the
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          2  past, over the years, as well as at the shelters.

          3  The clients will go out on their own or with their

          4  housing specialists in the neighborhoods that they

          5  want to move to, and look for housing.

          6                 So, both through our outreach and our

          7  promotion of the program and generating needs from

          8  brokers, as well as on the more local level, the

          9  clients will go out and work.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, the City

         11  pays brokers to find these apartments?

         12                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes, a

         13  broker fee is part of the payment that can be made

         14  under HSP.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. Thank

         16  you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         18  Council Member.

         19                 Just a quick follow-up on the issue

         20  of domestic violence.

         21                 We've gotten reports from advocates

         22  that in fact there have been some tensions or some

         23  problems with landlords who understood just by the

         24  way things were being processed that the client was

         25  likely a survivor of domestic violence, and some

                                                            71

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  landlords had hesitations about that, and that might

          3  have created some difficulties.

          4                 So, what are you doing to ensure?

          5  Because obviously, you know, this is something we've

          6  talked about in this Committee before, we have to do

          7  everything possible to protect survivors of domestic

          8  violence. And at the same time, there are so many

          9  ways that our society tells people to stand back

         10  from helping them and we certainly have understood

         11  that some of the instincts of landlords, of

         12  neighbors, of many people that, you know, this might

         13  bring a difficult situation into their lives, and so

         14  people, unfortunately, sometimes react negatively.

         15                 What are we doing to protect against

         16  that, and to when we hear such a problem, to address

         17  it with a landlord and with a client?

         18                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: In

         19  reality, I'd like to have information on this, you

         20  know, direct information on this, because we talk

         21  constantly with the advocates and with the shelter

         22  directors. And the shelters are often the ones who

         23  are helping find apartments, they're working with

         24  the clients. I think the point should be made that

         25  most of the apartments certainly that we deal with,
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          2  the clients are bringing those apartments and saying

          3  this is where I want to move. So, in a sense it's

          4  infantalizing them to say you're not like the rest

          5  of New Yorkers who could find their own apartment.

          6  We're going to tell you whether your apartment is

          7  good enough. You may think it is, but we know

          8  better.

          9                 So, it's not that we don't go and do

         10  a walk-through and check everything off, but I'm

         11  just saying that I think we do have to be careful

         12  not to be saying we are going to decide for you

         13  where you are to live.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No one is

         15  suggesting for a moment that it's good to be

         16  paternalistic. I mean, I couldn't agree more.

         17                 I'm saying something a little

         18  different. I'm not saying that the client shouldn't

         19  figure out what's right for them. I'm saying, if you

         20  have such instances, whether you've heard a specific

         21  example, and just take the example for a moment, you

         22  have an instance where it is evident because of the

         23  way things are processed to a landlord, that this is

         24  not just someone who happens to be coming out of a

         25  shelter, but in fact there is another dynamic, and
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          2  it happens to be domestic violence, and that that

          3  creates difficulties, how do you address that.

          4                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I

          5  understand.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: This Committee

          7  has looked at legislation about how employers handle

          8  victims of domestic violence, and how landlords

          9  handle it, and I think it is a big issue in our

         10  whole community. It's not something particularly in

         11  your agency.  But when you have an indication that a

         12  landlord might be balking because of that status

         13  being a little too obvious, what do you do about it?

         14                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: We really

         15  wouldn't have a lot of this. We would try to educate

         16  the landlord on why it is, you know, there's nothing

         17  negative in taking this client, but that is not

         18  something that has come up with us in the last year.

         19                 Early on in the program we did have a

         20  few brokers and landlords who were hesitant, but it

         21  was because of the fact we were holding them to a

         22  very strict demands of what they had to change

         23  before we would allow a client to move in. And it

         24  was, sometimes it was as simple as having window

         25  guards. But we would not take their word for it,
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          2  that they put the window guards up, we would insist

          3  on going back. So, if they had, you know, other

          4  people willing to come in, and I'm not talking about

          5  an HSP, but to somebody off the street who was

          6  willing to come in without that demand, they might

          7  decide not to do business with us.

          8                 But really from everything I know

          9  today, it wasn't because the client had domestic

         10  violence issues.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And if you see

         12  instances of that, I assume you're going to address

         13  them directly with the landlord.

         14                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: We would

         15  definitely want to address them, yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Just a

         17  couple other quick items. I want to take you back to

         18  the question of your efforts with the State to

         19  provide some kind of transitional support for folks

         20  who have found work. Let me just hone it a little

         21  more. It's one thing if the person finds enough work

         22  to get some additional income, but not enough work

         23  to come off public assistance, and it's another

         24  thing if they find the kind of job, whether it's

         25  long-term or not, and stable or not, but enough that
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          2  provides income that takes them off of public

          3  assistance and out of HSP.

          4                 So, you know, if you're in that

          5  second dynamic, for someone who is coming off public

          6  assistance entirely and out of HSP entirely, and the

          7  State simply says, no, we can't help you with that,

          8  what -- again, I'm not belittling training or

          9  anything like that, but is there going to be any

         10  effort on the City's part to create some

         11  transitional rental subsidy or something that helps

         12  make sure that family actually gets on a long-term

         13  path to self-sufficiency.

         14                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: As I've

         15  said, this City is -- I mean, the program HSP was

         16  originally developed with a work supplement in mind

         17  from the beginning, and we do feel strongly that

         18  that is still a missing piece. I think I would like

         19  to answer your question that way to let you, to

         20  really reiterate the City's commitment to the work

         21  support piece.

         22                 I do want to just let everybody know

         23  that to the extent that the City would, if you're

         24  suggesting that the City alone pay for a work

         25  support, the way that would work in reality would be
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          2  that the client would leave public assistance, and

          3  then the City, if it did so, would pay for work

          4  support. The benefit of that client leaving public

          5  assistance and coming off of the rolls would really

          6  go to both the federal government and the State

          7  government, in effect. It would almost be a windfall

          8  to them because they would no longer have to support

          9  the client through public assistance, while the City

         10  was going to support the client through a 100

         11  percent City paid work support. And we are really

         12  trying to resist that notion very strongly in our

         13  dealings with the State, that that's not the right

         14  outcome.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I couldn't

         16  agree more, and you know, the old rules of the road

         17  don't apply anymore. I think not long ago there

         18  would have been an assumption of a certain level of

         19  fairness between federal, State and local

         20  government, and I think those days are gone. And

         21  again, I credit this administration for recognizing

         22  that in the cool light of day and doing something

         23  about it with HSP.

         24                 But I guess I'm just saying this, I'm

         25  not asking you to bargain against yourself and say
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          2  publicly, oh, don't worry about the State, we got it

          3  covered, by no means, it should be the State's role.

          4                 I'm saying to you, maybe it's a way,

          5  a broader question. Just like I think we came to

          6  some greater understanding that rental subsidies

          7  could be used as a strategic tool to prevent

          8  homelessness, is it going to be consideration of

          9  using rent subsidies more flexibly where you have

         10  conditions where you think someone could get to

         11  self-sufficiency if they had a little more support,

         12  but they don't happen to fit the narrow confines of

         13  HSP anymore because they've gone off public

         14  assistance.

         15                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I think

         16  we are looking to be quite creative, and flexible in

         17  how we would attain and implement a work support

         18  program.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Let me

         20  take you to one or two other things. We have been

         21  joined by Council Member Annabel Palma, and I will

         22  give her a chance to catch her breath, and then

         23  we'll go to her for a question.

         24                 Let me take you to the question of

         25  the overall numbers of folks in HSP one more time.
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          2  If I understand, okay, your earlier testimony, since

          3  inception til now, almost a year and a half, 6,584

          4  clients meaning individuals and/or families, okay --

          5                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER:

          6  Households, I would say.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Households.

          8  Good answer.

          9                 Now, I just want to compare this

         10  against the goal. My understanding was the goal for

         11  this fiscal year per se ending June 30 was 6,500

         12  households, and that excludes whatever happened

         13  between December '04 and June '05. So, just for July

         14  '05 to June '06, the goal was 6,500 households. So,

         15  you don't have to be, again, a statistician to say

         16  it does not appear you're going to meet that goal

         17  per se, you're about at that goal for the whole

         18  length of the program right now, unless there's

         19  going to be a sudden surge, it looks like it's going

         20  to be hard to meet that goal.

         21                 Therefore, (a) what's your response

         22  to that? (B) do you believe sort of the anticipated

         23  long-term progression of this program is actually

         24  going to happen? Or is it not happening the way you

         25  planned, and if so, why?
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          2                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes, our

          3  goal has been around to produce about 500 move-outs

          4  with HSP per month, which does translate into about

          5  6,500 per fiscal year, per year. This year we are

          6  slightly behind, as you note. I think there have

          7  been a couple of contributing factors that we're

          8  looking to address. One is that with HSP the notion

          9  had been that the rental support amounts may need to

         10  increase over time, as do the rents. And right now

         11  we're looking at the data to see if it's time, in

         12  fact, to go ahead and take a look at do the amounts

         13  that the supplement offers, do the rental amounts

         14  need to go up because the rents have gone up? We're

         15  doing some numbers crunching around that. That may

         16  have, in fact, been one of the contributing reasons

         17  to why we slowed down the process of move-outs. In

         18  addition, we've particularly noticed that we've

         19  slowed down with the smaller, on the smaller end

         20  apartments. It's harder to find affordable

         21  apartments at the rate for HSP for the studio and

         22  one bedrooms. And we've been made aware of that. We

         23  are aware of that, and willing to address that, as

         24  well.

         25                 Thirdly, I would just like to say
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          2  that the City's fiscal year is not quite over yet,

          3  we have until June 30th and we are optimistic that

          4  the numbers will go up again. But we are mindful, we

          5  do recognize what you've just described.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, just to

          7  summarize, you're being hit by some supply and

          8  demand stuff? You're being hit by rising rents,

          9  you're being hit by decreasing supply of smaller

         10  units?

         11                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes. I'm

         12  not sure I would say decreasing supply, but

         13  certainly fewer available smaller units that we can

         14  afford in this program.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         16                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: And then

         17  we're looking to make maybe some other more specific

         18  targeted remedies to find more.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, we'd

         20  obviously be very interested to know if you're

         21  making adjustments, what those will be.

         22                 Let me turn now to Council Member

         23  Annabel Palma, who has been extremely concerned with

         24  HSP in general and with the step-down of the

         25  subsidies in particular and has been working on this
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          2  issue now for several months.

          3                 Thank you for joining us and we

          4  welcome your questions.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chair. I apologize for being late. I got caught up

          7  in the Bronx.

          8                 Chairman DeBlasio is right, my

          9  concern stems from some disturbing reports that my

         10  office has been getting from certain constituents

         11  who are part of the HSP program. A constituent in

         12  particular last week who we had in the office came

         13  to us and told us that he was told by a caseworker

         14  to actually quit his job so he could be eligible for

         15  this subsidy, and that was disturbing to me.

         16                 I believe that this program, like

         17  many of us, the goal is to make people

         18  self-sufficient, but the 20 percent step-down

         19  program I think is catching people in a bind. They

         20  can make over a certain amount of money, and

         21  therefore, I believe it takes them back into public

         22  assistance, and I don't think that was the goal of

         23  the program at all. So, I want to tell you that I'm

         24  here and committed to working with the

         25  Administration to make sure that we continue to
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          2  enhance the program and to make it work and to make

          3  people actually self-sufficient.

          4                 So, my question to you, Ms. Winter,

          5  is does the City have a plan to address rent arrears

          6  for the families that are affected by the 20 percent

          7  reduction to avoid any evictions?

          8                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: First of

          9  all, let me say in terms of your constituent was

         10  told not to work, that's certainly not the message

         11  that we want about HSP, nor is it the key to

         12  success. So, if there are specifics you can give me

         13  later off the record, we would love to follow-up

         14  with that and make sure the client is better

         15  informed and better guided, frankly, through the

         16  process. That's certainly not the case.

         17                 Our goal, and the 20 percent is about

         18  $100 a month after the first year, so we recognize

         19  the amount we're talking about, and that is a lot of

         20  money in many, many cases. If the client starts to

         21  accrue arrears from the 20 percent, the City really

         22  is not at this point, the way the program is

         23  designed and the way public assistance works is that

         24  it's not something that the City would pay for.

         25                 There are other, obviously, private
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          2  charitable situations where any New Yorker who finds

          3  themselves behind in rent can go to, the Emergency

          4  Rent Coalition, a certain number of other charities

          5  that can do it. I mention that, frankly, really

          6  reluctantly because the goal is that the families

          7  should be able to manage the step-downs. I mean,

          8  that is the purpose of the program. It's not meant

          9  to be punitive by any stretch of the imagination.

         10  We're not trying to send a message to these clients

         11  who are our clients coming from shelter that we want

         12  you to have arrears or get into trouble or we're

         13  doing this for that purpose, but we really do think

         14  the structure of the program has to be that from the

         15  beginning the client acknowledges there's a

         16  step-down coming, and is working towards meeting

         17  that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: And so then,

         19  what mechanisms are in place to let these clients

         20  know from the very first beginning? I had the

         21  privilege of meeting with Deputy Mayor Linda Gibbs

         22  yesterday, and I think this is, you know, the

         23  beginning of a discussion. What are we doing as a

         24  City to make sure that these clients know about the

         25  effects of the 20 percent and are preparing
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          2  themselves for what's going to come?

          3                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: We do

          4  educate them as they're in the shelter looking for

          5  apartments about how HSP works, what their

          6  expectations are, and what will happen. And

          7  everybody in the shelter really has a caseworker

          8  that works with them and they can actually encourage

          9  them to sit down and go through it so they know what

         10  to expect. And we do this with the intention that

         11  the clients know when they leave what the program is

         12  about. It should not come as a surprise at all. And

         13  in fact, we also, the program is structured so that

         14  from the beginning the clients need to make a

         15  transition from independent living from shelter,

         16  that alone, frankly, takes a little bit of time and

         17  effort, to sort of settle down in your new housing

         18  on your own. But then, frankly, shortly after that,

         19  the clients really do need to be thinking and

         20  working towards the first step-down because it is,

         21  you know, less than, at that point, 12 months away.

         22                 So, we really are about educating the

         23  clients from the beginning, as well as the landlords

         24  about how this program works. To the extent we

         25  haven't done that as well as it should, we will need
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          2  to improve that and make sure that the clients

          3  really understand as they leave shelter what the

          4  program is about.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Okay. Thank

          6  you, Mr. Chair.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

          8  Council Member.

          9                 And I'd like to go for one more

         10  question from Council Member Brewer, and then I have

         11  a couple of final questions.

         12                 Council Member Brewer.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Just on that

         14  question, when I asked something similar earlier,

         15  you said you were going to get us the number of

         16  people who have hit that 20 percent?

         17                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes. And

         18  just so you realize, that number who has hit the 20

         19  percent is obviously changing every day. Every month

         20  more and more people are going to hit their 20

         21  percent, so we can -- I know you talked originally

         22  about the January figures, but I think what we

         23  should be able to do is let you know as of really

         24  the close of the month last month how many have hit.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And then, I
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          2  don't really understand how it's so easy to be able

          3  to follow up and participate and be successful in

          4  that 20 percent, given the economy and rents. I just

          5  don't understand it.

          6                 So, it would be good to be able to

          7  see. I just don't get it. I don't get it. So that's

          8  why I want to see the numbers, and maybe we'll

          9  understand, I don't know.

         10                 I'm just saying I don't get it. How

         11  can you pay more rent on a fixed -- I don't get it.

         12                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: The goal

         13  really is that you begin working --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It has been

         15  working?

         16                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: No, no.

         17  Sorry. The goal for the family is to make the

         18  step-down, is that they begin working and have

         19  earnings, income.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, I

         21  understand the goal. I'm just saying, just

         22  intuitively, I don't understand it.

         23                 So, if we look at the numbers, maybe

         24  we will understand them. But intuitively, it doesn't

         25  make any sense to me. And I've been around a long
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          2  time.

          3                 Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's the

          5  voice of wisdom and experience right there. You

          6  should heed that.

          7                 Okay, two final points here.

          8                 Commissioner Corbett, I just wanted

          9  to follow-up on one of the points about domestic

         10  violence survivors.

         11                 Again, I'm trying to honestly look

         12  at, and no means suggesting the agencies aren't

         13  doing their best, or most landlords are not handling

         14  things right. I am talking about the human reality

         15  of fear of domestic violence, and we all understand

         16  that.

         17                 So, as I understand it, just again

         18  whereas if someone were coming out of the shelter

         19  system and appeared because DHS was the agency

         20  they're coming out of, appeared to be simply a

         21  family that had dealt with homelessness, versus if

         22  they come from HRA, that may be a tipoff that

         23  there's something else going on, such as domestic

         24  violence.

         25                 I understand there's also a

                                                            88

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  difference that with HRA you do two inspections of a

          3  unit, whereas if someone is coming out of DHS they

          4  only do one.

          5                 I mean, I'm just trying to find out,

          6  are there triggers inadvertently here that say to a

          7  landlord, this is a more complex or difficult client

          8  that might cause landlords to not be comfortable

          9  with that client coming to them?

         10                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Well, as

         11  to the inspections or walk-throughs that we do, to

         12  check off what's in the apartment, in over 80

         13  percent, almost 82 percent we do not do a second

         14  walk-through. It's only a little over 18 percent

         15  that we do a second walk-through, and most of those

         16  then pass inspection.

         17                 And it's the sort of thing I said

         18  before, something that's egregious enough that we

         19  really feel we want to go back and make sure that

         20  the landlord has addressed the issue.

         21                 And there are a number of those

         22  issues that DHS would do as well. We're pretty close

         23  on the kind of things that we look at and we expect.

         24                 I don't think this is tipping off the

         25  landlords, I mean, our success is so much greater
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          2  than Section 8 and NYCHA that if there are few

          3  landlords that are being tipped off and therefore

          4  saying they won't take our clients, we certainly are

          5  still being very successful in moving our clients.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. And that

          7  segways into just a couple of questions about the

          8  response of landlords so far.

          9                 So, you know, again, I think we're

         10  very familiar with some of the legitimate

         11  frustrations landlords have confronted with Section

         12  8, and a number of other City programs or State or

         13  federal programs in terms of the time it took to get

         14  inspections done, and the results of those

         15  inspections and violations that had been cleared

         16  that were still showing on the record, all these

         17  perfectly legitimate issues.

         18                 So, give me a sense of what the

         19  landlord response has been in the sense of have

         20  there been concerns that landlords have raised about

         21  working with the programs, how do you communicate

         22  with landlords in general to make sure that this

         23  methodology is working for them or that there is a

         24  problem, someone is troubleshooting it; what's the

         25  relationship?
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          2                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: We at DHS

          3  have developed over time many relationships with

          4  brokers, and they really are the bellwether for us

          5  about whether landlords are having problems.

          6                 We are getting over 200 offers a

          7  month of apartments for HSP, so there's not been a

          8  significant problem for us.

          9                 I think landlords are adjusting to

         10  the program. Obviously this was new to landlords as

         11  well as clients, and over time they will call us

         12  every once in awhile with an issue, a question. We

         13  have staff that is available that deals with them.

         14  We will convene sometimes focus groups of brokers to

         15  get feedback from that end, as well as landlords

         16  about how they're working with the program.

         17                 You did mention the sort of the

         18  streamline process into the apartment which I think

         19  the landlords appreciate, as do we.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, what I'm

         21  hearing from everyone is that you feel that you have

         22  a successful relationship with landlords, and that

         23  in terms of having enough landlords willing to

         24  participate, you're not having a problem with that?

         25                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I would
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          2  say we would love to have more, and we would love to

          3  have more apartments offered to us. Frankly, there

          4  isn't too many that we could be -- we would ever say

          5  it's too many, so I don't want to leave you with the

          6  impression that it's fine where it is. I think as

          7  you know we're looking to increase our move out

          8  numbers and that will mean we want more apartments

          9  offered and more buildings and apartments

         10  participating in HSP. But we're not hearing any dire

         11  complaints from the landlord community that they're

         12  not bringing us apartments.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And you're not

         14  starting, except for what you mentioned about the

         15  smaller units, as a general rule, you're not having

         16  a supply problem? If you actually start to pick up

         17  your numbers, you're not going to run into a supply

         18  problem?

         19                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I think

         20  that what we have seen so far in the last couple of

         21  months is a slight decrease in the number of offers

         22  we're getting from landlords.

         23                 We still are getting over 200 a

         24  month, over 200 apartments per month offered to us.

         25  Oh, I'm sorry, it's a week.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes, I was

          3  about to say -- you were about to have a math

          4  problem, if your goal was 500 households and 200

          5  apartments. I was going to get you on that one.

          6                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: No,

          7  you're right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I was going to

          9  get you.

         10                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Let me

         11  correct the record.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Give the staff

         13  some flowers later on, they did a good job.

         14                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: We are

         15  now getting over 200 a week, apartments referred to

         16  us, and that there has been a decrease in the last

         17  couple of months, it was I believe around 240 that

         18  we had been getting. So, frankly, there are fewer

         19  apartments that were coming into us.

         20                 We're still getting a substantial

         21  number of apartment offers, though.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'll just

         23  finish on this point. I know Annabel Palma has one

         24  more follow-up.

         25                 Look, we're all very, very conscious
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          2  of simultaneously trying to serve the most people as

          3  best we can, and also being mindful of the

          4  difficulty we're facing, budgets, and trying to be

          5  fair to the taxpayer and everything else, but I just

          6  want to raise a little red flag that, you know,

          7  going from 240 to 200 a month is noticeable. Going,

          8  you know, having your smaller units starting to

          9  trail off is noticeable. I mean, and at the same

         10  time that the step-down may create, you know,

         11  instability over time, that might be a disincentive

         12  to landlords to want to participate in the program.

         13                 So, I'm just concerned. I'm not

         14  asking you to just spend more money for the fun of

         15  it. I am concerned, however, and I'd like a formal

         16  response when you've done your analysis, that we be

         17  clear about what is it going to take to keep

         18  landlords in this program long term and to keep your

         19  supply moving along. Your supply is at 800 now,

         20  versus 500 families you need to serve, and that's

         21  down from over 900 not long ago, in terms of your

         22  monthly supply of new offers, you know, I just want

         23  to be mindful that if your trends are negative that

         24  you're thinking about the economics of how to make

         25  it work.
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          2                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Well, we

          3  are also very mindful of the number of move-outs, as

          4  you pointed out as well, and that's all related.

          5                 But I do want to recognize that the

          6  number of apartments that get referred to us is not

          7  the sum total of apartments that work. Clients

          8  themselves and shelter workers go out with clients

          9  in their own neighborhood and develop their own

         10  resources and find their own apartments. So, the

         11  number of offers coming in is a large number, but

         12  certainly not the universe of apartments we use for

         13  HSP.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No, I

         15  appreciate that fully. And I just will say in

         16  response, I'm also seeing a dynamic in the market,

         17  in the last few years, like nothing we ever saw

         18  before, which means, I don't think it's rocket

         19  science to say supply will be decreasing over time.

         20  Unless there's a serious, serious cooling off, by

         21  definition your supply will be decreasing because of

         22  much larger dynamics. Just like every other

         23  available supply for the public sector.

         24                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: We are

         25  extremely mindful of your caution there. I do want
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          2  to reiterate that we do think HSP should not be

          3  based on a rent, once set stays in place for all

          4  time, that we need to keep pace with the market

          5  forces on that, and that is our intention. So, we're

          6  aware of that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          8  much. And now a final question from Council Member

          9  Annabel Palma.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you.

         11                 What's the threshold of someone who

         12  is employed? Like what's the most they can earn

         13  before they are taken out of the program?

         14                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: It really

         15  depends on the family size.

         16                 I think for a family of three it's

         17  approximately 16,000.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: A year?

         19                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: A year.

         20                 And just to say here, if you are

         21  earning that, if you're also taking advantage of all

         22  of the other things that you can, such as earned

         23  income tax credit, et cetera, that is equivalent to

         24  a lot more than that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Okay. Earned
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          2  income tax credit comes once a year, right? And a

          3  family of three is supposed to survive on $16,000 a

          4  year, paying a $900 rent or a $1,200 rent for a

          5  two-bedroom apartment?

          6                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I'm

          7  saying, and don't hold me exactly to that number,

          8  that that's approximately where you would no longer

          9  be public assistance eligible.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Okay.

         11                 So, is there any way that, in trying

         12  to be innovative, to be able to help people become

         13  self-sufficient, that this cap can increase to allow

         14  folks to earn more money, be able to pay their bills

         15  and not have to depend on public assistance?

         16                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I think

         17  we hope to achieve that goal through the work

         18  supplement portion, which would really say you can

         19  still earn above the 16,000 or the public assistance

         20  cut-offs and earn more money and still get some of

         21  that rental assistance. That is the goal of that

         22  work supplement that we're going to work on to

         23  achieve. So, yes, that is what we see hopefully

         24  coming in the future.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: And then my

                                                            97

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  last question is, what is the State doing? What is

          3  the plan with the State in terms of what's going on

          4  with the program?

          5                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I guess I

          6  want to start off by saying the State really has

          7  been a terrific partner with us in the development

          8  of HSP. That being said, we have gone to them on the

          9  work support piece from the beginning and they have

         10  essentially at this point said they don't have a

         11  funding mechanism for it.

         12                 But we're still talking to them about

         13  that, and as I think I said before, the City does

         14  believe the work support is a missing piece to the

         15  program and needs to be achieved.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: So, what does

         17  the City need to do to prove to the State that we

         18  need this done to pump money into that piece that's

         19  missing?

         20                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I think

         21  actually we're looking at a variety of different

         22  ways of using TANF funds in a slightly more flexible

         23  way, and that's really at this point all I can say

         24  as to how to do this.

         25                 I think the State understands the
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          2  desire for the work support, it's just figuring out

          3  how to make the funding streams work to support it.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          6  much, Council member.

          7                 And thank you very much to our

          8  representatives of our Administration. We appreciate

          9  it very much, appreciate your answers. We will be

         10  sending you a follow-up letter and we would

         11  appreciate your prompt attention to that.

         12                 And now we are going to move to our

         13  next panel. Before we do, I'd just like to a couple

         14  of moments of housekeeping.

         15                 And the first and most important is

         16  that someone has lost a small black purse on the

         17  steps outside City Hall, and if anyone has found it,

         18  please give it to one of the Sergeant-At-Arms who

         19  wear the distinctive blue blazer.

         20                 Sergeant, would you raise your hand

         21  so people could see you. If anyone has found a small

         22  black purse that does not belong to themselves,

         23  please give it to the Sergeant.

         24                 I'd also like to say, we have until

         25  12:30 with this hearing. We have a couple more
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          2  panels coming forward and then if we have an

          3  opportunity for some public testimony, we'll take

          4  it. That is always and has always been and will

          5  always be two minutes per person, and that's only if

          6  the next two panels finish before our 12:30 limit.

          7  So, I just want to tell people that up front.

          8                 And I am now going to call the next

          9  panel forward, which are recipients of housing

         10  assistance. They are going to tell us about their

         11  personal experience.

         12                 Amos Hoff or Huff. I'm not sure I'm

         13  saying it right. Who is a HASA client, and Lisa

         14  Henley, who is an HSP recipient. Mr. Hoff and Ms.

         15  Henley, please come forward.

         16                 And while they are, I'm going to say

         17  we're reading into the record formal testimony,

         18  written testimony that was submitted to us by Legal

         19  Services, Legal Services for New York City, South

         20  Brooklyn Legal Services, by Habitat For Humanity,

         21  and by Help USA. All of that testimony will be part

         22  of the formal record.

         23                 Now we welcome our next panel. Who

         24  would like to begin?

         25                 MR. HOFF: I'll go.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

          3                 MR. HOFF: Good morning. My name is

          4  Amos Hoff and I'm a member of the New York City AIDS

          5  Housing Network.

          6                 I thank you for this opportunity to

          7  testify for the New York City Council General

          8  Welfare Committee on Intro. 161, that's the Subsidy

          9  Act.

         10                 I'm also a client of HASA. I receive

         11  subsidies. Prior to me moving into my permanent

         12  apartment, it's a struggle in the emergency housing

         13  system where the SROs are rat infested, roach

         14  infested. You know, you're supposed to move into

         15  medically appropriate permanent housing. So, after

         16  18 months after I moved into the permanent housing,

         17  I now have problems in my permanent housing where

         18  the bathroom ceiling fell down, it took them eight

         19  months to put it back up. There's mold. And the

         20  landlords are promising to fix things, but since

         21  they are getting subsidies, you know, it's like

         22  we're going to get the money anyway, so why fix it?

         23  So, that's a big problem.

         24                 And a lot of these apartments, when I

         25  do outreach, are just, they're substandard, and I
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          2  wouldn't have my pet live in some of these places

          3  that they quote/unquote say is medically appropriate

          4  or affordable. You know, it's ridiculous, the way

          5  the system is.

          6                 So, the problem is -- we urge you

          7  guys, we thank you for your support, but the real

          8  big problem is, the City has to stop giving these

          9  slumlords money for places that are not even fit for

         10  animals, you know?

         11                 So, now, at this time, I would just

         12  like to take time to thank Speaker Quinn, who had

         13  left, and Council Member Arroyo, and of course,

         14  Council Member DeBlasio for their leadership on this

         15  legislation, and to all the Council members who have

         16  been supportive.

         17                 I would also like to urge you, the

         18  Council, to quickly pass the legislation into law to

         19  ensuring that other homeless New Yorkers living with

         20  HIV and AIDS won't be sent to

         21  medically-inappropriate apartments, and that

         22  landlords won't be able to take advantage of us.

         23                 And I thank you for this opportunity

         24  for me to testify before you, and I'd be happy to

         25  answer any questions, if you have any.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you. We

          4  appreciate your testimony. Ms. Henley, please

          5  proceed.

          6                 MS. HENLEY: Hello. Good morning.

          7  Myself and my five-year-old daughter moved into the

          8  shelter -- moved from the shelter, domestic violence

          9  shelter, into our apartment in the Bronx, February

         10  2005, using Housing Stability Plus subsidy.

         11                 We was grateful to find an apartment,

         12  but we was pressured to move into an apartment that

         13  was not adequate, not suitable at all.

         14                 Although the apartment passed DHS

         15  inspection, and I was surprised it was, after moving

         16  in there, I found HPD had documented more than 200

         17  violations in the building and over $11,000 in fines

         18  have been charged by HPD for emergency repairs.

         19                 Soon after it was documented for

         20  violations, my apartment still has a violations. HPD

         21  came and saw it was lead in the apartment and mold

         22  in the bathroom.

         23                 The super came, repaired the

         24  apartment, repaired the lead and the mold but not

         25  the repairs I originally documented.
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          2                 In addition to the problems with the

          3  conditions of our apartment, I also found that HSP's

          4  structure prevented me from going to work. When I

          5  was in the shelter, they explained to us about the

          6  percentage of step-down, and I attended Grace

          7  Institute.

          8                 In June of 2005, I graduated and

          9  immediately found work. However, only after three

         10  months on the job, I was contacted at my home by the

         11  HS and told that due to my income, which was only $8

         12  an hour, I was no longer eligible for public

         13  assistance, and as a result, I lost my HSP subsidy.

         14                 Must I add, I was back in rent $2,000

         15  before my 20 percent was even up. Plus, I wasn't

         16  even aware that they wasn't even paying the rent for

         17  the three months that public assistance had closed

         18  my case. So, I wasn't even told that the rent wasn't

         19  being paid. So, I get a back arrears notice from my

         20  landlord in October saying July, August and

         21  September wasn't being paid, and I had three days

         22  notice to be put out.

         23                 They advised me to quit my job, which

         24  I did, and I was left behind in rent, which HSP is

         25  not paying for.
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          2                 In addition, I have to start paying

          3  $108 starting in February. However, I'm only receive

          4  (sic) $218 in cash benefits from public assistance.

          5                 How can I pay $108 in rent, phone

          6  bill and electricity and gas and still have anything

          7  to take care of my five-year-old child?

          8                 All I'm saying is I want to be

          9  self-sufficient and work to support my child, and

         10  the way Housing Stability Plus is structured, I

         11  don't see how that could ever become.

         12                 In fact, I'm worried that my daughter

         13  and I might end up back to the shelter, and it

         14  doesn't make sense that it should even have to go

         15  that way when I was told in the beginning that this

         16  program will help me, and I was also told it would

         17  help me become self-sufficient because you have to

         18  find employment in order to start paying a

         19  percentage of your rent.

         20                 If I found work, that should have

         21  showed them that I was working to be

         22  self-sufficient, so why was I being penalized?

         23                 Thank you for giving me the

         24  opportunity to testify. If you have any questions --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Now, Ms.
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          2  Henley, I want to ask a couple of questions about

          3  your experience, and Mr. Hoff, if any of this, if

          4  you want to chime in at any point with some of what

          5  you have seen around the City, I would appreciate

          6  that too.

          7                 So, first on the last part you were

          8  talking about, so you were not given a clear

          9  understanding of how things would work once you were

         10  in HSP, and how that related to your situation with

         11  public assistance and employment. So, this is

         12  exactly what we were just asking the Commissioners

         13  about. You're doing the right thing, you're going

         14  out, you get a job, you get training, you get a job,

         15  and then it starts to be a catch-22 and negative

         16  impact on you instead of a step forward.

         17                 Now, you said you were advised to

         18  actually leave the job. I hope everyone in this room

         19  is taking this in for a moment, that this is a

         20  reform gone crazy here, when people are supposed to

         21  be self-sufficient and told they have to leave their

         22  job to be able to make ends meet.

         23                 So, what type of -- you're saying you

         24  were advised by DHS? Or who advised you to leave the

         25  job?
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          2                 MS. HENLEY: It was DHS case managers.

          3  They came to my apartment with a referral letter to

          4  go back to public assistance and get back on.

          5                 When I received the notes from public

          6  assistance stating that I was cut off. I didn't

          7  think that that would cause me to lose my subsidy

          8  program, because I was still aware that with HRA,

          9  when they send me to the Job Search Programs, if

         10  you're complying with HRA, then you still keep your

         11  case. So, DHS, when give you a problem because

         12  you're complying with HRA. So, that's what confused

         13  me, when they told me I had to quit my job.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, the DHS

         15  folks said that just based on the numbers and the

         16  economics, that you were better off quitting your

         17  job, but then did they resume the HSP subsidy to

         18  you?

         19                 MS. HENLEY: It took them two months

         20  to resume it, and then I wasn't even aware that they

         21  wasn't even paying from the rent during the time

         22  when public assistance was closed, my case was

         23  closed.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But did they

         25  resume it in time that you were able to keep your
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          2  apartment?

          3                 MS. HENLEY: Within two months, yes,

          4  they did. But the landlord took the rent that they

          5  were starting to pay back, to pay the back rent.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right.

          7                 MS. HENLEY: So, I'm still owing back

          8  rent. I'm still owing rent to date.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: For the time

         10  you were off HSP and --

         11                 MS. HENLEY: Right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And off public

         13  assistance.

         14                 Okay. So, now you're back on public

         15  assistance?

         16                 MS. HENLEY: Right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And your back

         18  in HSP?

         19                 MS. HENLEY: No.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No. Just public

         21  assistance.

         22                 MS. HENLEY: Just public assistance.

         23                 As a matter of fact, something that's

         24  not even relevant.  The child support had sanctioned

         25  me because of stuff that's not even relevant. HPS
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          2  still didn't contact me to tell me because you're

          3  sanctioned, that we're not paying the rent.

          4                 So, when I went to the public

          5  assistance office just yesterday to find out what

          6  was going on with my case, because I only received

          7  $20, they told me that public assistance is not who

          8  sanctioned you, it's your child support who did. And

          9  I asked them about why is my landlord telling me I'm

         10  only receiving $141 when HSP is starting to pay the

         11  rent since November? They said, no, public

         12  assistance is paying, HSP isn't. And then when I

         13  went to go upstairs to the HSP to speak to somebody

         14  about it, they told me, turned me around and told me

         15  I have to wait for appointment. I went to make an

         16  appointment, they told me I had to wait for a case

         17  manager to come to my apartment to give me a

         18  referral to come back to them.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And on the

         20  previous issue of the violations and the standards

         21  of the Department, so when it became clear to you

         22  that some of the problems were not being addressed,

         23  how under HSP were you supposed to raise that

         24  concern back to the City?

         25                 MS. HENLEY: I have called 3-1-1
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          2  numerous times. I've got documents right here of the

          3  complaints that I've called with 3-1-1. Actually, I

          4  just had HPD at my house yesterday to see the

          5  violations that was never fixed. Only thing that was

          6  fixed is what HPD had contacted the landlord about

          7  was the lead-based paint and the mold.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, were you

          9  told by the City that if there were problems, call

         10  3-1-1?

         11                 MS. HENLEY: Right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. And you

         13  did, but you still have not gotten a clear answer on

         14  where they're going with it?

         15                 MS. HENLEY: No. They came --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         17                 MS. HENLEY: The workers who came to

         18  my house yesterday told me I should just take the

         19  landlord to court, if they're not fixing the

         20  problems that I originally had, and that's the holes

         21  that's causing rats to come into the apartment,

         22  that's the light fixtures that's hanging from the

         23  ceilings in my daughter's room and the kitchen, the

         24  doorknob causes me to sometimes get locked in my

         25  apartment, which is a fire hazard.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          3                 Mr. Hoff, same point? I mean, do you

          4  see when there are problems and HSP recipients or

          5  folks who are working with HASA report the problems,

          6  do you see any kind of clear way the City addresses

          7  them?

          8                 MR. HOFF: I'll give you an example.

          9                 I pay a portion of my rent and HASA

         10  pays another portion. They wasn't paying it either,

         11  and I wasn't informed until the landlord suddenly, a

         12  paper said I owed them $2,000. I don't owe you

         13  $2,000, I have all my rent receipts. I goes to the

         14  case manager, she says, oh, well, you know, you got

         15  to find this out, whatever, I'm saying, no, that's

         16  not my job, it's your job, because I've been paying

         17  my portion, I have my receipts right here.

         18                 The problem is, is the human element,

         19  the connection, the compassion from the case

         20  managers to really understand what people are going

         21  through and the struggles that they came through and

         22  why should they have to struggle anymore if these

         23  programs or these institutes are put up here to

         24  actually help people for a better quality of life.

         25                 It's not a better quality of life
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          2  when you're telling somebody that, okay, now you

          3  can't work. Now you gotta take this guy to court and

          4  all that, while they can nip it in the bud with the

          5  subsidy act, Intro. 161. And that's why we're here

          6  saying we gotta push this, because that will give us

          7  a sense of things of really getting done without

          8  having to go through all the rhetoric and the red

          9  tape, and possibly some people I know, I spoke to

         10  several people that actually are getting evicted

         11  from their homes, that's getting subsidy from the

         12  City because the City is not paying the landlord,

         13  and the landlord is taking advantage and making side

         14  deals and all of that, and it puts our people in the

         15  community at risk, period.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         17                 I would like to, first of all,

         18  welcome, joining us now, Council Member Tom White of

         19  Queens, who is a member of the General Welfare

         20  Committee.

         21                 I know Council Member Gale Brewer has

         22  a question for the panel.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         24                 Thank you, Ms. Henley. Can you just

         25  walk me through. First of all, you have a Ph.D in
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          2  life. You're amazingly fabulous. I don't know how

          3  you figured this all out. My question is, can you

          4  just walk me through how, when you moved from the

          5  shelter to HSP, you know, sort of when that was, and

          6  then sort of the timing from then to be told to go

          7  back to, you know, getting a job. Just run through

          8  the scenario.

          9                 MS. HENLEY: Okay. In February 2005, I

         10  moved out of the domestic violence shelter. I stayed

         11  in my school -- at the time I was attending Grace

         12  Institute in September 2004, I graduated 2005.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:

         14  Congratulations.

         15                 MS. HENLEY: Thank you.

         16                 July of 2005 I started working with

         17  Fresh and Right (phonetic). I started out at 7.50

         18  just as a picker packer, and by mid, the beginning

         19  of August I want to $8 an hour. It wasn't going to

         20  go no further than that until the next six months.

         21                 In middle of September, I could say

         22  by September 27th, the DHS workers came and told me

         23  that I was making too much money.

         24                 And if I can go back, I was mailed a

         25  letter from HRA in August and they was closing my
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          2  case. I didn't think nothing of it because I was

          3  working now, and I can go for the benefits as Food

          4  Stamps, Medicaid, along with working, I was only

          5  making $8 an hour.

          6                 When they told me I was making too

          7  much money, I quit the job on the 30th of September,

          8  went to public assistance, reapplied, and by

          9  October, actually November they started receiving,

         10  the landlord told me he started receiving rent

         11  payments, but he didn't tell me he was using those

         12  rent payments to pay the back rent.

         13                 And I just -- only thing I been doing

         14  with the public assistance programs is going to job

         15  search programs and WEP assignments, but going

         16  through the job search programs is what's holding me

         17  back, because HRA tells the job search programs we

         18  only allow to look for full-time work. But HSP is

         19  saying because I only have myself and my child on a

         20  case, we're only allowed to work part-time. So,

         21  that's conflicting right there because if I'm being

         22  told one place I'm only allowed to work part-time,

         23  HRA, and they're the vendors, are thinking I'm being

         24  hard and not complying because I'm telling them I

         25  can only look for part-time, and they're actually
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          2  giving me word feedback as if I'm being hard on them

          3  saying you're supposed to look for full-time work,

          4  no, you're not supposed to have a part-time job. HRA

          5  only allows to find you full-time work.

          6                 I want to work full-time. I don't

          7  want to be on public assistance no more. I want to

          8  be self-sufficient. I want to have my own apartment,

          9  I want to pay my own bills. But if I need the help

         10  to get on my feet to do it, that's where I thought

         11  HSP was coming in, but I don't see no forward. All I

         12  see is a merry-go-round going in circles.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         14  Thank you very much. I think there are still people

         15  here from the agencies that you have mentioned, and

         16  I hope they pay attention to your extremely

         17  articulate presentation, and hopefully you're

         18  speaking, you are speaking for others, because you

         19  are such a leader, and I know we'll all work toward

         20  your case to remedy the situation, but I think in

         21  general it's so clear as to what some of the

         22  challenges are.

         23                 Thank you very much for your

         24  leadership.

         25                 MS. HENLEY: Thank you.

                                                            115

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

          3                 Thank you, Council Member. And thank

          4  you to this panel. We very much appreciate your

          5  insight and the testimony you've given. I think it

          6  makes very vivid what the challenges are here. And I

          7  know a lot of people in this room appreciate the

          8  strength of your testimony and the clarity, and I

          9  agree with Gale, you're showing a lot of leadership.

         10  Sometimes people in public life need to be reminded

         11  what that looks like.

         12                 So, I'm glad you're doing that for

         13  all of us. I thank you very much.

         14                 Okay, our next panel, some advocates

         15  who have been working on these issues and have

         16  contributed a lot to trying to make sure that we

         17  support people properly.

         18                 I'd like to call forward Steve Banks

         19  of Legal Aid Society. Lauren Bholai-Pareti. The

         20  Shelter Coalition, Nat Fields of the DV Shelter

         21  Coalition, and Patrick Markee of the Coalition for

         22  the Homeless.

         23                 Okay, which of you would like to

         24  begin? Don't be shy now, Patrick. Patrick, it's

         25  about to turn into the 18-minute gap, if you don't
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          2  come back here and say something.

          3                 MR. MARKEE: I apologize.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Historians will

          5  wonder what happened during this time.

          6                 MR. MARKEE: I apologize, Mr.

          7  Chairman.

          8                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          9  present this testimony. My name is Patrick Markee,

         10  I'm Senior Policy Analyst at Coalition for the

         11  Homeless. And the 18-minute gap was in fact to allow

         12  us to actually show some photos of apartments that

         13  are part of the HSP program, and we'll try and show

         14  them a little further.

         15                 These are two apartments that the

         16  City approved, and that have been receiving

         17  subsidies on the order of 10, 11,000 dollars a year

         18  from taxpayers. And I think this is a welcome dose

         19  of reality, as if any more is needed after the

         20  testimony from Ms. Henley and Mr. Hoff about the

         21  realities that homeless New Yorkers are confronting

         22  when they're being placed into housing with severe

         23  health and safety violations, as a result of the

         24  inadequate protections in these programs.

         25                 We lend our voices in strong support
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          2  of Intro. 161, which is a piece of legislation which

          3  will go a long way towards addressing some of the

          4  flaws in the HSP program and in the HASA rent

          5  subsidy program and will move to protect some of the

          6  most vulnerable New Yorkers, homeless children,

          7  families, homeless individuals, including

          8  individuals living with HIV and AIDS and other

          9  serious health problems.

         10                 I think, you know, another piece of

         11  sort of reality to introduce here, the Commissioner

         12  talked about the agency's desire upon move-in that

         13  the apartment be in a safe and habitable condition.

         14                 Unfortunately, the protocols that the

         15  Commissioner described do not meet that goal. What

         16  she described what the Department of Homeless

         17  Services is currently doing is one inspection at

         18  most of apartments that are approved for the HSP

         19  program, and then by her own admission, the City

         20  fails to do reinspections, except only in individual

         21  case-by-case, you know, situations for certain

         22  apartments, they identify certain, what they

         23  describe as serious violations.

         24                 As a result, many apartments with

         25  severe health and safety violations like these
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          2  apartments pictured here, in fact are approved for

          3  this program and vulnerable homeless families and

          4  individuals are placed into these apartments where

          5  they confront these health and safety violations.

          6                 I think it's outrageous that the

          7  Commissioner said that the expectation from the

          8  agency is that these tenants are meant to compete in

          9  the housing market along with other low-income New

         10  Yorkers. There are different situations here. These

         11  are families that are being placed into apartments

         12  with taxpayer rent subsidies, and it is absolutely

         13  common sense, and not only good policy, but also a

         14  reasonable expectation from taxpayers that their tax

         15  dollars are not going to subsidize some severely

         16  substandard housing.

         17                 I think it's also worth illustrating

         18  that even with the protocols that the Commissioner

         19  identified, hundreds of families have been placed

         20  into these apartments. She admitted that when they

         21  look at an apartment, when an apartment is brought

         22  to them by a landlord, they only check the HPD

         23  database for lead-based paint violations. They don't

         24  check for other violations. Buildings that people

         25  have been placed into, including Ms. Henley that
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          2  just testified, have hundreds of Housing Code

          3  violations. It's outrageous that the City is

          4  allowing taxpayer subsidies to go to these

          5  buildings.

          6                 We think that Intro. 161, in addition

          7  to protecting families, will send the right

          8  incentives to the subset of landlords who have been

          9  abusing this program and maintaining their buildings

         10  with health and safety violations. The incentive

         11  will be for them to fix those conditions, to repair

         12  those violations, if they want to receive these

         13  subsidies.

         14                 Unfortunately, the housing conditions

         15  problem is not the only flaw in the HSP program. As

         16  you said, Mr. Chairman, this is a program that is

         17  definitely needed, given the cutbacks by President

         18  Bush and Congress and Federal Housing Programs, but

         19  if we repair the flaws -- if we don't repair the

         20  flaws in this program, it's a program that risks

         21  becoming a revolving door back into shelter for many

         22  homeless families and many homeless individuals.

         23                 The other major flaw in the program

         24  that I would identify in my comments here is the 20

         25  percent reduction in the rent subsidy. Every year
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          2  the rent supplement goes down by 20 percent, the

          3  Commissioner said it's about an average of about

          4  $100 for households. At the same time, families are

          5  prohibited by the current rules from actually going

          6  and getting paid employment, in order to make up for

          7  that lost subsidy.

          8                 I would say also that even with a

          9  relaxation of the public assistance rules, the

         10  evidence shows and research shows that many families

         11  are not going to be able to compete. Housing vacancy

         12  server data that just came out from the Census

         13  Bureau showed that in the last three years, median

         14  renter incomes in the City dropped by five percent

         15  in real terms. Median rents in the City increased by

         16  eight percent in real terms. The housing market the

         17  tenants are confronting and the employment market

         18  that low-income New Yorkers are confronting is not

         19  one that's going to allow them to essentially take a

         20  20 percent rent hike every year without a consequent

         21  increase in their incomes.

         22                 The 20 percent rent reduction needs

         23  to be addressed and it's something that the City

         24  Council can act on if the Administration fails to do

         25  that.
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          2                 And finally, I would say that the

          3  Administration's change in policy in removing the

          4  priority for federal housing programs for public

          5  housing apartments and for Section 8 vouchers, this

          6  happened at the same time that the Housing Stability

          7  Plus Program was created, was a mistake and we're

          8  seeing the results of that mistake right now.

          9                 There was no reason for this

         10  delinking, as the Administration described it, of

         11  Section 8 vouchers, of public housing apartments for

         12  families that are in shelter, the families that are

         13  most in need of housing assistance in our City. In

         14  fact, the evidence shows that since the delinking of

         15  that federal housing aid from the shelters, the

         16  numbers of homeless families entering the shelter

         17  system has increased in the last year, which I think

         18  explodes the myth of the Administration, and not

         19  just this Administration, the previous

         20  administrations have espoused that there was some

         21  linkage between families entering shelter and the

         22  availability of housing assistance. In fact, we see

         23  that families enter shelter for the reasons that

         24  they've always entered shelter, evictions, domestic

         25  violence, unsafe housing conditions, loss of
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          2  employment. The same reasons that families have been

          3  entering shelter for years. The availability of

          4  housing assistance is something that actually moves

          5  those families out of shelter.

          6                 There's no reason why the hundreds of

          7  families that are in shelter tonight that do not

          8  qualify for Housing Stability Plus, families with

          9  disability income, veterans, families with Social

         10  Security income, people with unemployment insurance,

         11  there's no reason why those families should not have

         12  priority for public housing apartments which are

         13  available today.

         14                 This is another area in which the

         15  City Council can act. And I think what we would urge

         16  the Council to do is to look at the areas where they

         17  can work with the Administration, work with the

         18  Administration to repair the flaws in this program.

         19  If the Administration or the State fail to act, then

         20  I think it's incumbent on the City Legislature to

         21  act in its place, because there are many families,

         22  thousands of families more in the coming years that

         23  are going to be affected by the flaws in this

         24  program.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 Lauren, are you next? Okay, go ahead.

          5                 MS. BHOLAI-PARETI: I believe I am.

          6  Good morning, or I guess nearly good afternoon. I'm

          7  Lauren Bholai-Pareti, and I'm the Executive Director

          8  of the Council on Homeless Policies and Services. We

          9  represent about 60 non-profits that provide

         10  emergency and transitional services to children and

         11  adults around the City.

         12                 I want to thank you for the

         13  opportunity to testify today. My written testimony

         14  contains a lot of additional detail, but in the

         15  interest of time, my comments now will focus just on

         16  our support for Introduction 161, and on three key

         17  recommendations for improving the HSP program.

         18                 First, the program simply must do a

         19  better job of supporting people who leave public

         20  assistance for work.

         21                 We are delighted that City officials

         22  agree that we should continue rental support, so

         23  that those who can't afford their full rent don't

         24  lose their HSP apartment. Now we need to make that

         25  conceptual agreement a reality to the thousands of
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          2  households who are currently left without viable

          3  options.

          4                 We simply must make sure that a

          5  single mom earning just $7.65 an hour can continue

          6  to get help so that she doesn't have to pay more

          7  than 70 percent of her pre-tax income to keep a roof

          8  over her children's heads.

          9                 To that end, we recommend that the

         10  City move forward quickly and continue the rent

         11  supplement for households leaving PA for work.

         12                 Second, we recommend that the City

         13  restore priority access, an issue that Patrick spoke

         14  to earlier, to federal housing resources for

         15  homeless families who are not eligible or who have

         16  mixed eligibility for HSP. Thousands of NYCHA

         17  apartments still become available each year and

         18  could be a valuable resource for moving families out

         19  of shelter and keeping them out of shelter.

         20                 We know from the research that NYCHA

         21  placements are some of the placements that result in

         22  the lowest shelter recidivism rates. Not all

         23  homeless families are eligible for HSP, but

         24  currently HSP is virtually the only subsidized

         25  housing option available for my members to move
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          2  families out of shelter.

          3                 We also know that more families are

          4  moving into unsubsidized settings, which should be

          5  cause for alarm, because we know that those

          6  placements offer the least protection for families

          7  and result in families often coming back to shelter.

          8                 Our members are also currently forced

          9  to place families, using the HSP voucher, even when

         10  the only adult in the household is disabled, and

         11  cannot earn income to offset the annual rent

         12  reduction.

         13                 So, our members are told that they

         14  need to move families where the mom is on SSI and

         15  has been determined by the federal government to be

         16  unable to work out of shelter using HSP, because

         17  it's the only option available right now.

         18                 We could easily provide sound

         19  placements to these vulnerable families by restoring

         20  priority access to NYCHA and Section 8, without

         21  creating significant new demand for shelter.

         22                 Third, institute more aggressive

         23  penalties for landlords who illegally require

         24  payment in excess of authorized rent levels.

         25                 This practice is common in the HSP
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          2  program. I have one member who has reported that 50

          3  percent of their after care caseload has had their

          4  landlord seek such illegal payments. More aggressive

          5  measures, including spending participation in all

          6  City rent subsidy programs for landlords that engage

          7  in the illegal practice are needed to protect

          8  tenants.

          9                 Finally, a few words about

         10  Introduction 161.

         11                 Each day our members and their

         12  homeless clients face the daunting job of finding

         13  apartments at HSP rents that in the first year are

         14  already significantly below fair market rents. The

         15  non-profits operating Tier II shelters face cuts to

         16  their program budgets if they fail to place enough

         17  families in permanent housing.

         18                 Though this bill would potentially

         19  make an already difficult situation even more

         20  difficult by eliminating apartments in very poorly

         21  maintained buildings from the pool, the fact remains

         22  that children leaving shelter deserve to live in

         23  safe and decent homes. For that reason, we thank the

         24  bill's sponsors and urge the full Council to pass

         25  this important measure.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 MR. FIELDS: I think I'm going next.

          4                 Good afternoon, Chairperson DeBlasio

          5  and other members of the General Welfare Committee

          6  and the advocates and guests that are here, I'm

          7  Nathaniel Fields, and I'm representing domestic

          8  violence providers of New York City. We provide

          9  domestic violence services here in New York City.

         10                 And interestingly enough, it seems to

         11  be a disconnect between those individuals in

         12  government who are moving toward the principles of

         13  HSP and looking at those people who are utilizing

         14  HSP.

         15                 The reality is that there's good

         16  intentions with HSP, but there's some problems, and

         17  our goal, hopefully, is to enact legislation that

         18  will fix these problems, as this is the subsidy that

         19  we're going to have to continue to use.

         20                 I have written testimony, I'm going

         21  to deviate slightly in the interest of time. I think

         22  brevity has its place. But let me begin.

         23                 In addition to some of the more

         24  traditional barriers to employment, many victims of

         25  domestic violence face additional issues around
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          2  isolation, dependency and low esteem issues.

          3                 For certain families, more time and

          4  support may be needed to obtain and maintain

          5  employment and achieve self-sufficiency that HSP

          6  mandates.

          7                 DV families also face all obstacles

          8  on the other end of the employment spectrum. While

          9  some families may have work histories and skills to

         10  maintain employment, they may not have financial

         11  resources required to move their families into a new

         12  apartment.

         13                 We roughly found that about four

         14  percent from our own data that we collected, that

         15  domestic violence shelter residents that are

         16  ineligible for HSP because they're working generally

         17  just above the poverty line, as you've heard

         18  testimony here today, do not quality for TANF. As

         19  everyone knows, one has to be eligible to TANF to

         20  receive HSP. What we're finding is that this is

         21  creating a disincentive.

         22                 I gather it was never anyone's

         23  intention to have people not work, but the reality

         24  is that we have a subsidy here that when people do

         25  the calculations, they realize it's just not in
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          2  their favor to work. It's just not there. The money

          3  is not there to pay the rent that's ever-increasing

          4  that's been talked about and talked about and talked

          5  about today.

          6                 Interestingly enough, working women

          7  have the greatest chance to achieve self-sufficiency

          8  in the shortest time frame. However, without the

          9  support of housing subsidies, once they leave

         10  shelter, many of these working families will

         11  continue to face housing instability and will have a

         12  higher probability to reenter in the shelter system.

         13                 It's our hope that the State and City

         14  will come to an agreement soon and provide families

         15  with transitional benefits they need.

         16                 You know, this has been offered for

         17  some time. What I didn't hear today is when is soon?

         18                 We've already been impacted by the 20

         19  percent step-down. Families are going to continue to

         20  get impacted. When are we going to reach a

         21  resolution? I'm interested in hearing when we have

         22  some data of what happens to families as they reach

         23  a 20 percent step-down, what we're going to do with

         24  that data.

         25                 I think many people have good
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          2  intentions, but we have to realize, if we're

          3  creating disincentives to work and we're creating

          4  subsidies, we're going to end up re-housing people

          5  and the taxpayers don't want money spent on people

          6  reentering the system. We want to find long-term

          7  solutions to housing issues.

          8                 I just want to continue to say that

          9  domestic violence families face other barriers as

         10  they move into Housing Stability Plus apartments.

         11                 Many women move from out of shelter

         12  into HSP apartments into new and unfamiliar

         13  neighborhoods.

         14                 While this provides families with an

         15  opportunity for a safe start, domestic violence

         16  families must work to build new resources and social

         17  support networks, and we'll have to face many other

         18  challenges of living on their own without the

         19  security and support that comes with moving into

         20  familiar neighborhoods.

         21                 This is important, because women,

         22  families that face domestic violence issues are in

         23  hiding, and the challenges that they're leaving

         24  their neighborhoods, where people generally have

         25  most of their supports and going somewhere else,
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          2  you're going to require a whole lot of new resource

          3  and a whole lot of support just to maintain your

          4  environment.

          5                 I don't know, if you ever have to

          6  move, that's challenging enough, to move without any

          7  supports is even more challenging than being hiding,

          8  a new school, your children are in a new school, the

          9  place becomes even more challenging in the whole

         10  goal of self-sufficiency.

         11                 I want to end by saying overall

         12  families who have experienced domestic violence face

         13  very diverse situations when they come to our

         14  shelter, and when they leave.

         15                 Some families may not need the extra

         16  support to successfully maintain their HSP

         17  apartment. Most families have or will need more time

         18  as they continue to cope with the trauma and the

         19  upheaval that domestic violence has created in their

         20  lives.

         21                 We hope that the City and this

         22  Committee will continue to consider the special

         23  needs of domestic violence in both HRA and DHS

         24  systems, and I want to say, you know, with the

         25  General Welfare Committee, you all are very well
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          2  informed of the issues and we hope that we can

          3  continue to support you to enact legislation that's

          4  going to make the subsidy work as well as we think

          5  it can.

          6                 Thank you for hearing me today.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Now welcome, my

          8  constituent. The great Borough of Brooklyn.

          9                 MR. BANKS: Thank you very much,

         10  Council members, for this opportunity to testify

         11  before the Committee. My name is Steven Banks of The

         12  Legal Aid Society.

         13                 After the testimony of Ms. Henley and

         14  Mr. Hoff, there's not really much more that needs to

         15  be said by us experts about the problems with the

         16  program.

         17                 I think that they both eloquently

         18  highlighted the kinds of flaws that the Committee

         19  has been looking at from your own questions.

         20                 One point I do want to make, though,

         21  is the misnomer term of the step-down, it's really a

         22  step to nowhere, because it assumes not simply that

         23  your rent will be reduced by 20 percent, but your

         24  income will increase by 20 percent. And I don't know

         25  of any jobs in the local economy or in the national
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          2  economy that are going to provide a 20 percent rent

          3  increase over a five-year -- a 20 percent income

          4  increase over a five-year period of time. And that's

          5  an underlying law, particularly when it's coupled

          6  with prohibition on working to get off of public

          7  assistance.

          8                 So, you're left in a situation in

          9  which you can't pay the rent, but you can't get

         10  employment to pay the rent and you can't find

         11  employment that will give you enough money to pay

         12  the rent, and that's really the place in which

         13  people find themselves.

         14                 A number of the flaws that have been

         15  highlighted relate, of course, to the exclusion of

         16  people with disabilities and people that receive

         17  SSI, and veterans benefits because they're not on

         18  public assistance, or the exclusion of people that

         19  are receiving child support as income-based because

         20  they're not on public assistance, and all of these

         21  families which make up a large number of the

         22  individuals in the shelter system are excluded from

         23  participation.

         24                 There's been discussion about the

         25  side-deal problem. Essentially what's been created
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          2  is an unregulated permanent housing program in the

          3  sense that before HSP, there were rules for what

          4  occupancy standards would be, there were rules for

          5  what housing quality standards would be, and there

          6  were rules on what payments could and could not be

          7  made to landlords and they were enforced and they

          8  were rigorous inspections. Gone from essentially a

          9  regulated permanent housing relocation program, to a

         10  deregulated program. And you see the results in the

         11  pictures and you see the results that are here, the

         12  results in the testimony.

         13                 If we say that there aren't flaws,

         14  it's very difficult to explain then the following

         15  numbers: Between December 2004, when the program was

         16  originally implemented, and the present, there were

         17  a planned 9,319 placements. That was the plan if you

         18  add up each month how much was supposed to happen.

         19  And in fact, there had been a total of 5,855

         20  placements during that period of time. That's an

         21  achievement rate of 62.8 percent.

         22                 While certainly 62.8 percent against

         23  a backdrop of reductions in federal housing

         24  assistance is better than nothing, we could be doing

         25  much better with a better program, and we certainly
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          2  supported the concept of allocating State and City

          3  dollars to make up for decreasing federal

          4  assistance, but the flaws in the program prevent it

          5  from reaching all the people who clearly need it.

          6  And there was a projection that more than 9,000

          7  families need it, but substantially less than that,

          8  of those families, have been reached.

          9                 Now, I guess my role in this panel is

         10  to be a lawyer and say why it's legal to do this, so

         11  let me say that and wrap up and leave you with that

         12  message.

         13                 I know that there was testimony that

         14  the Law Department has looked at this and the Social

         15  Services Law does not permit the City Council to

         16  pass this legislation. The Court of Appeals Decision

         17  that's cited simply has no applicability here. There

         18  is no provision of the New York State Social

         19  Services Law that requires the placement of families

         20  with children and other vulnerable adults in

         21  apartments that have life-threatening conditions.

         22                 There is no provision of the New York

         23  Social Services Law that prohibits a locality from

         24  prohibiting the placement of families with children

         25  and vulnerable adults in housing that has
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          2  life-threatening violations.

          3                 That would be the first analysis. The

          4  next analysis would be, is there a field occupation

          5  by the -- has the State occupied the field here? And

          6  the core of the power of the City Council is to

          7  enact provisions of the local administrative code,

          8  that are designed to protect health and safety, and

          9  to regulate the use of public dollars that are taken

         10  from City taxpayers.

         11                 This bill is focused on ensuring that

         12  City tax dollars is not spent on housing that has

         13  life-threatening or seriously hazardous conditions.

         14  That's a basic power of the City Council.

         15                 There is no provision of the Social

         16  Services Law that could take that kind of power away

         17  from a locality, otherwise it's simply saying that

         18  the City Council has no power to protect its

         19  residents from hazardous housing conditions.

         20                 You would have no power to have an

         21  administrative code that sets up that housing has to

         22  look and be in place in a way in which children and

         23  adults are not harmed.

         24                 There can really be no serious debate

         25  in 2006 that life-threatening conditions, like lack
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          2  of water, plumbing that doesn't work, no heat in the

          3  winter, are conditions that this Council does not

          4  have the power to say that children and families and

          5  adults should not be subjected to or that City tax

          6  dollars should not be provided to support landlords

          7  who provide housing with conditions such as those

          8  that are depicted in the pictures.

          9                 We'd be happy to provide additional

         10  information on that, but that's really a core

         11  question. It goes to the power of the Council. I

         12  know there was a recent Court of Appeals Decision

         13  that speaks to the power of the Mayor, but not in an

         14  area so basic as this, where there would be an

         15  inability to have a local administrative code if you

         16  don't have this power.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: First of all, I

         18  say amen to that. The real issue, I think when you

         19  have a situation where there is so much gray

         20  permeating the relationship between two branches of

         21  government, it says that there's something imperfect

         22  about the foundational document, and I have often

         23  said that I think it's time to start thinking about

         24  a charter change to clarify the role of the

         25  Legislature, and to make it look somewhat more like
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          2  that that seems to be the standard around the

          3  country at the state level and certainly at the

          4  federal level of creating some real balance. Because

          5  I think that Court of Appeals Decision, there are

          6  certain elements out there, the idea that they can

          7  run wild, and that's not the way it's supposed to

          8  be, and maybe we need to hone our charter a little

          9  more on that point.

         10                 But in the meantime, I couldn't agree

         11  with you more, that if you can do zoning, if you can

         12  do housing quality standards, I mean you go down the

         13  list of everything that no one disagrees is the

         14  place of a locality, it's a little hard to argue

         15  that health and safety standards don't fall under

         16  that rubric.

         17                 I'm not a lawyer, I don't play one on

         18  TV. You're a real lawyer and I'm glad to hear you

         19  give us that analysis, because that's important, for

         20  people not to get carried away with what the Court

         21  of Appeals did.

         22                 Let me turn to Council Member Gale

         23  Brewer.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Very quickly,

         25  this is more on the overall issue. Is there an
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          2  advisory board on some of these challenging issues

          3  with DHS or HRA?

          4                 Obviously we asked earlier, I think

          5  particularly regarding domestic violence, and the

          6  Deputy Commissioner, Assistant Commissioner from HRA

          7  said that there was such a committee, so I was just

          8  wondering if that's true? And have you brought some

          9  of these issues to the attention of the relevant

         10  agencies?

         11                 MR. FIELDS: We did set up, about a

         12  year ago, we met with Ester Fuchs at the time, we

         13  set up with HRA, HSP Working Committee. Some of

         14  these issues we continue to work on. Some of these

         15  issues are structural, that they don't really have

         16  the power to change.

         17                 In addition, HRA seems to be

         18  understaffed to do the rate of inspections on a

         19  timely basis. As you know in domestic violence the

         20  clock is ticking, there is only 135 days, the

         21  opportunity of some increase in time, so residents,

         22  or clients feel that they have to take apartments as

         23  quickly as possible.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         25                 Go ahead.
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          2                 MS. BHOLAI-PARETI: I will address

          3  that also.

          4                 We have also established a work group

          5  with the Department of Homeless Services, and there

          6  have been some real and concrete changes that have

          7  been made through that process.

          8                 But as you've heard from the

          9  testimony today, there are a lot of outstanding

         10  issues that we have not been able to address through

         11  that process, and so we do think that, you know, we

         12  could use some help from the City Council in

         13  legislating some of the remaining outstanding

         14  issues.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So there's

         16  other issues, other than of course the building

         17  conditions?

         18                 MS. BHOLAI-PARETI: Absolutely.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

         22  Palma.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you.

         24  Regarding, Patrick, any other clients that you come

         25  across with that you get your information from, the
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          2  ones that are living under these conditions, have

          3  any of them who have reported these conditions have

          4  been moved out of their apartments or transferred to

          5  better ones?

          6                 MR. MARKEE: I can answer that

          7  question. Unfortunately it's been a huge problem

          8  getting the agency to act at all.

          9                 I think you actually heard the

         10  Commissioner testify just a short while ago that the

         11  agency's stance on this is that the clients are on

         12  their own. The families are pretty much on their own

         13  and they are going to have to call 3-1-1 and go

         14  through the same frustrating effort that lots of

         15  other low-income New Yorkers do to try and get

         16  repairs made in their buildings.

         17                 Having said that, even in some of

         18  these really egregious buildings, one of the

         19  buildings there, the building on the far right, the

         20  tenant of that building was forced to move out

         21  because after her ceiling collapsed, they turned off

         22  the heat and hot water and water service in her

         23  unit.

         24                 She was forced to move out and the

         25  landlord went and rerented the unit to another
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          2  occupant, to another tenant, and she's been unable

          3  to get any action from the Department of Homeless

          4  Services on that issue. We're written to them as

          5  well.

          6                 It's a very, very frustrating

          7  process. I don't need to tell anybody here that

          8  tenants in this City, particularly low-income

          9  tenants, who are living in buildings with severe

         10  numbers of code violations have a very, very

         11  difficult time trying to get those issues addressed,

         12  code enforcement is a real problem in the City, and

         13  there's no reason that the message, as the message

         14  to Ms. Henley was, should be, you know, go take your

         15  landlord to Housing Court. What low-income tenants

         16  in the City have the resources to hire a lawyer and

         17  take that kind of action? It's just not going to

         18  happen.

         19                 That's why it's incumbent, why Intro.

         20  161 is so important, is it will stop the agencies

         21  from placing families into buildings that already

         22  have these numerous Housing Code violations and stop

         23  the subsidies from going to those landlords.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: And I know the

         25  Administration said that, I believe, there are
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          2  recorded numbers for people that have gone back into

          3  the shelter system is 68. That's folks that actually

          4  now again in the shelter system. Do you know of any

          5  others who are doubled up? Do you know what that

          6  number is?

          7                 MR. MARKEE: We don't know the exact

          8  number. It's something that actually requires

          9  further study. But I think the Chairman put it well

         10  before when he said it would be a very, very -- an

         11  even more troubling program if at this moment, you

         12  know, more than 68 families had returned to shelter.

         13                 I think if you compare the recidivism

         14  rate for public housing apartments or for Section 8

         15  vouchers in their first year, year and a half, I

         16  think you would see actually better results or

         17  comparable results. I think the issue here is that,

         18  you know, we're going to see in the next months, as

         19  those 6,000 families that now have HSP enter their

         20  first year of their step-down are even more

         21  troubling the second year of their reduction. I

         22  think that's when we're going to see the trouble

         23  happening. There's lots of families that are already

         24  in arrears having trouble.

         25                 MR. BANKS: I think it might be
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          2  helpful to actually consider the numbers of families

          3  that were relocated in December 2004, relocated in

          4  January 2005 and February 2005, which might give

          5  some context of the actual number of people that

          6  began to be affected by the, I'd say step to

          7  nowhere.

          8                 In 2004, 68 families were relocated.

          9  In January 2005, 197 families were relocated.

         10  February 2005, 284 families were relocated. March

         11  2005, 430 families were relocated. If you add those

         12  numbers up and take 68 against that, you certainly

         13  see that it's not an inconsequential problem. The

         14  number 68 in isolation seems small, but as compared

         15  to the universe, it's got to be of concern.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         18  much. And I want to commend Mr. Banks for repeating

         19  his phrase consistently on the, what is it - path to

         20  nowhere? What is the phrase again? "Step to

         21  nowhere."

         22                 MR. BANKS: I'll defer to the Chair,

         23  and it sounds like a good idea --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No, step to

         25  nowhere is good. I think it's one of those things
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          2  where if you say it enough times it becomes part of

          3  the general dialogue. So, I commend you for --

          4                 MR. BANKS: I didn't even say it. I

          5  thought it was your --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Step to

          7  nowhere, everyone is talking about it.

          8                 I want to thank this panel. I want to

          9  thank this panel very much for your advocacy and for

         10  their testimony. We appreciate it very much, and we

         11  look forward to working with you to continue to try

         12  and resolve some of these rather strong and obvious

         13  problems and thank you very much.

         14                 We have three folks who signed up at

         15  the beginning for public testimony and we just have

         16  enough time to get them in. Again, it's a two-minute

         17  limit. It always is a two-minute limit on public

         18  testimony.

         19                 So, I would like to call forward

         20  Brenda Brown, Tamara Place and Lisa Davall. Please

         21  step forward.

         22                 Okay, now, are you Ms. --

         23                 MS. DAVALL: Lisa Davall.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, you're

         25  Ms. Davall. We're missing two people. Are they still
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          2  here? Let me see their names again. Hold on. Brenda

          3  Brown. Is Ms. Brown here? Okay, and Tamara Place, is

          4  she still here?

          5                 Okay, well, Ms. Davall, you have the

          6  panel all to yourself. It's still a two-minute

          7  limit, but you have the panel all to yourself. And

          8  we welcome your testimony.

          9                 MS. DAVALL: Thank you for giving me

         10  the opportunity. My name is Lisa Davall, and I now

         11  reside at University Family Center.

         12                 I have an HSP voucher. I would like

         13  to tell you how I feel about the HSP program. I

         14  think that it is a program set to make people fail

         15  at having a decent life. And first of all, there

         16  needs to be better apartments for people to choose

         17  from. Since that isn't happening, there really needs

         18  to be a proper inspection process put into a program

         19  like there was with Section 8.

         20                 With Section 8 inspections you

         21  couldn't move into an apartment until the apartment

         22  was fully inspected, that meant that someone came

         23  out to make sure the apartment was up to code. Not

         24  like the HSP program, where all the landlord has to

         25  do is sign a piece of paper stating he will fix the
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          2  repairs necessary. The conditions of the apartments

          3  we are forced to see and some of us forced to take

          4  are not fit for human beings.

          5                 Housing Stability Plus is very

          6  problematic, the rental assistance it provides

          7  diminishes by 20 percent each year, which means that

          8  with the New York City's super-high rents, even

          9  families with jobs will not be able to maintain

         10  their housing. No job in the world provides a 20

         11  percent raise each year.

         12                 We need the support of the City

         13  Council in addressing the issue of a missing

         14  component, which is The Work Support Program which

         15  really needs to be added. By not adding this program

         16  to the plan people are forced to choose between

         17  staying on Public Assistance or finding a low-paying

         18  job. By adding this program to Housing Stability

         19  Plus people can work in a job that will allow them

         20  to maintain the rent, the cost of living, and their

         21  dignity. Homeless people do want to work.

         22                 And again with that, I do have one

         23  more testimony. The person is not here but I would

         24  like to, you know, read her testimony.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We will agree
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          2  to that.

          3                 MS. DAVALL: Okay. Thank you so much.

          4                 It's a person who is about to be

          5  evicted and returned back to the EAU, back into the

          6  shelter system. And her statement is: "I'm still

          7  homeless in my own apartment." And her name is

          8  Janice Jones, and she feel that she is homeless in

          9  her own apartment and she should have stayed in the

         10  shelter system 'cause there she was at least getting

         11  heat and hot water and her children wasn't getting

         12  sick as they are now, that she have HSP.

         13                 She live in an HSP apartment that was

         14  over 126 code violations in a two-story house, and

         15  she says that she's homeless in her apartment

         16  because she feel that she's living in an abandoned

         17  building, the landlord tacked up things and claimed

         18  he repaired it, but everything is still falling

         19  apart.

         20                 He got unlicensed people with no

         21  identification as to whom they are to come to her

         22  door. She have five young children living in an

         23  apartment who are always sick now because of

         24  horrible conditions. She feel like she is being

         25  mistreated by the system all over again. She don't
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          2  know how DHS could allow this apartment to pass any

          3  inspections. She was told at the shelter that she

          4  had to take this apartment or be sanctioned. And she

          5  feel that she was forced into this -- and she felt

          6  that she was forced into this hell hole. Every day

          7  she lived with the fear that she would be returning

          8  to the shelter any day now because what she is, she

          9  is getting ready to return back to the shelter any

         10  day now, because what she is, she's getting ready to

         11  return back to the shelter any day now, because she

         12  had been holding the 30 percent of the rent that she

         13  had to pay until the landlord fixes the problems in

         14  her apartment. Her daughter is sanctioned and HRA is

         15  paying the full amount of the rent subsidy, and she

         16  keeps going back and forth to court trying to get

         17  the court to deal with this housing problem. The

         18  people that came up with the Housing Stability Plus

         19  need to take more concern with finding licensed

         20  inspectors to inspect these HSP apartments that have

         21  bad code violations.

         22                 No one should be living as she is

         23  now. She joined Picture The Homeless, just like I

         24  am, I am a member of Picture the Homeless as well,

         25  because we want to fight to change policy and laws
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          2  that badly affect homeless people and with the

          3  support of other homeless people fighting like

          4  ourselves, we stay strong. Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          6  much, Lisa. We appreciate your testimony very much.

          7                 Thank you to everyone who

          8  participated today and who attended. This Committee

          9  of the General Welfare Committee is now adjourned.

         10                 (The following written testimony was

         11  read into the record.)

         12

         13  Written Testimony Of:

         14  Thomas Hameline, Ph.D

         15  Senior Vice President, Programs

         16  HELP USA

         17

         18                 April 26, 2006

         19

         20  Councilman William de Blasio

         21  Chair, General Welfare Committee

         22  New York City Council

         23  City Hall

         24  New York, NY 10007

         25
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          2                 Chairman de Blasio:

          3

          4                 HELP USA provides transitional

          5  housing and supportive services to hundreds of

          6  homeless families and adults from throughout New

          7  York City. Our goal is to return our clients to

          8  permanent housing as rapidly as possible and, in

          9  addition, to provide them with the vocational

         10  training and job placement services that will

         11  increase their long-term self-sufficiency.

         12                 We are very proud of the fact that

         13  over the past several years, HELP USA has placed

         14  more than 5,000 homeless adults into unsubsidized

         15  employment.

         16                 In its current configuration, Housing

         17  Stability Plus (HSP) represents a serious impediment

         18  to our efforts to help our homeless clients find and

         19  retain employment. Because an HSP-recipient must

         20  remain on Public Assistance in order to continue to

         21  receive the housing subsidy - and the money they

         22  earn from working might cause them to lose their

         23  welfare benefits - the vast majority of our clients

         24  feel that it is not in their interest to get a job.

         25                 This effect of this disincentive to
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          2  work becomes even worse when we consider the time

          3  limited nature of the HSP housing subsidy. Because

          4  HSP is a five-year subsidy which decreases by 20%

          5  each year, in the ideal case recipients would slowly

          6  increase their ability to pay their share of the

          7  monthly rent.

          8                 They would be encouraged to develop

          9  their job skills and vocational experience during

         10  this five-year period, and would therefore have a

         11  much greater chance of success when the subsidy

         12  eventually expires. They will likely have received

         13  pay increases, they will have become accustomed to

         14  work, and will have learned the necessary skills

         15  that are a prerequisite for self-sufficiency.

         16                 However, as a result of the

         17  requirement that HSP-recipients remain on Public

         18  Assistance, our formerly homeless clients will most

         19  likely wait until the very end of the subsidy period

         20  to find work, and due to lack of experience and

         21  training, will be unable to support themselves. A

         22  return to the shelter is imminent, and the money

         23  "saved" by limiting the subsidy will be spent on

         24  resheltering.

         25                 HELP USA encourages the City Council
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          2  to work with Mayor Bloomberg to convince New York

          3  State to end the link between HSP and Public

          4  Assistance. This will increase our clients' work

          5  incentive, improve their self-sufficiency, and

          6  reduce recidivism into the shelter system.

          7                 We thank you and the other members of

          8  the General Welfare Committee for holding these

          9  important hearings, and for working to improve the

         10  lives of the homeless adults and families we serve.

         11                 Sincerely, Thomas Hameline, Ph.D,

         12  Senior Vice President, Programs.

         13
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         15  Written Testimony Of:

         16  David Robinson, Esq.

         17  The Legal Support Unit

         18  Legal Services for New York City

         19  350 Broadway, 6th Floor

         20  New York, NY 10013

         21  (646) 442-3596

         22

         23  Testimony of the Legal Support Unit of Legal

         24  Services for New York City before the City Council

         25  General Welfare Committee Hearing on Housing
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          2  Stability Plus

          3

          4  April 27, 2006

          5

          6                 This testimony is submitted on behalf

          7  of the Legal Support Unit of Legal Services for New

          8  York City (LSNY). LSNY provides free legal services

          9  in civil matters to low-income households in New

         10  York City. The seventeen neighborhood offices of

         11  LSNY in diverse communities throughout the city

         12  represent thousands of low-income tenants annually

         13  in disputes involving tenants' rights to remain in

         14  their homes.

         15                 LSNY has significant experience with

         16  the Housing Stability Plus (HSP) program

         17  administered by the Department of Homeless Services

         18  (DHS). We have represented numerous HSP clients

         19  through an Innovative Project funded by DHS to

         20  provide legal services to 1) prevent families from

         21  entering the homeless system; and 2) prevent

         22  formerly homeless families placed in permanent

         23  housing from re-entering the shelter system. Much of

         24  our recent work in this project has involved

         25  assisting clients in resolving serious problems they
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          2  have with HSP.

          3                 The City is to be commended for

          4  attempting to fill the gap left by the federal

          5  government when it reduced the number of Section 8

          6  vouchers available to low-income families to find

          7  housing in the private market.

          8                 However, serious flaws in the design

          9  and implementation of the HSP threaten to

         10  exacerbate, rather than relieve, the homelessness

         11  crisis.

         12                 Families desperate to escape the

         13  shelter system feel compelled to accept apartments

         14  with horrible living conditions and to sign

         15  agreements to pay illegal "side deals." And because

         16  the HSP subsidiaries are reduced 20% each year, many

         17  families will not be able to afford to pay their

         18  increased share; families who are able to increase

         19  their income through employment are at risk of being

         20  cut off PA, losing the HSP subsidy and then their

         21  apartments.

         22                 Numerous specific problems in the

         23  program are compounded by the absence of

         24  clearly-defined and legally-promulgated rules and

         25  consistent implementation of HSP. At present, DHS
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          2  has guidelines buried in explanatory material on the

          3  department's web site and in the various legal

          4  documents signed by landlords and participating

          5  tenants - leases, lease riders, landlord and tenant

          6  statements of understanding. These documents fail to

          7  offer clear standards by which an effective program

          8  can be implemented.

          9                 Poor Living Conditions.

         10                 From LSNY's experience with HSP, many

         11  families move from the shelter system into

         12  apartments with numerous housing violations and

         13  conditions that threaten the health and safety of

         14  families. Below are some examples of families that

         15  have contacted us for assistance. Passage of Intro.

         16  161 would be an important step in preventing many of

         17  these problems from happening by prohibiting

         18  placement of families in apartments or buildings

         19  with serious housing code violations.

         20                 One tenant in Bushwick faces an

         21  infestation of bedbugs; a tenant in the Bronx has

         22  holes in the wall, and mold; another tenant in the

         23  Bronx has mold and rats; still another Bronx tenant

         24  faces a leaking roof, rats and other rodents; a

         25  tenant in Williamsburg has a bathroom with uncovered
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          2  outlets, cracks in ceilings with peeling lead paint,

          3  holes in the walls and floor, rodent infestation,

          4  and poorly insulated windows that expose the

          5  apartment to cold air.

          6                 Another Bronx tenant faces a serious

          7  bug infestation resulting in her taking her two

          8  children, ages 3 and 5, to the hospital.. A tenant

          9  in the Bronx lives with peeling paint, as well as no

         10  power in part of the apartment, so the refrigerator

         11  does not work, nor does the electricity in the

         12  bedroom occupied by her newborn child. Another Bronx

         13  tenant has lived with rats in her apartment. Still

         14  another Bronx tenant is pregnant and worries about

         15  the health of her child in an HSP apartment with

         16  numerous housing violations.

         17                 One tenant in Brooklyn and another in

         18  Staten Island had no heat.

         19                 Finally an HSP tenant in the Bronx

         20  faced numerous uninhabitable living conditions in

         21  her apartment, resulting in her two-year-old son

         22  getting pneumonia; in addition, an HPD inspector

         23  found lead in her apartment.

         24                 These families contacted Legal

         25  Services because they could not get their landlords
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          2  to make repairs. Most of all these families have

          3  lived in their apartments for less than one year;

          4  many moved into apartments with the conditions as

          5  described above.

          6                 Illegal Side Deals.

          7                 A significant number of families

          8  seeking to end lengthy stays in the shelter system

          9  have signed illegal "side deals" with landlords,

         10  signing a second lease or a separate written

         11  agreement to pay the landlord monthly amounts in

         12  excess of the amount permitted under DHS program

         13  guidelines.

         14                 These side-deals are illegal, both

         15  according to DHS guidelines and existing case law.

         16                 One LSNY attorney in Brooklyn

         17  currently represents an HSP tenant whose landlord is

         18  attempting to collect the additional amount through

         19  a nonpayment proceeding in Housing Court.

         20                 Through conversations with social

         21  service agencies, after-care providers and other

         22  advocates working with formerly homeless families,

         23  we have learned that many additional tenants are

         24  being asked to pay side-deals and are afraid of

         25  legal challenges to these agreements, as they fear
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          2  retaliation by their landlords that would result in

          3  their return to the shelter system.

          4                 Since many of the HSP apartments are

          5  not rent regulated, tenants who refuse to continue

          6  to make under the table payments will almost

          7  certainly be evicted when their lease terms end.

          8                 Problems Created by the 20% Step

          9  Down.

         10                 The 20 percent annual reduction in

         11  HSP subsidy is unnecessarily draconian and creates

         12  obstacles to a successful program. Tenants are

         13  encouraged to work, which in itself is a laudable

         14  goal. But tenants have to calibrate their earnings

         15  precisely: if they earn too little they cannot pay

         16  the increased share of the rent; if they earn too

         17  much they will be cut off PA and will lose the HSP

         18  subsidy.

         19                 If a family of three earns in excess

         20  of $13,280/ year, they will be financially

         21  ineligible for public assistance and HSP.

         22                 However, the same family of three

         23  with a monthly rent of $925/month would have to earn

         24  $37,000/year to be able to afford to pay the rent

         25  without HSP assistance; this income is virtually
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          2  unheard of for someone just coming off PA.

          3                 Finally, if a family somehow,

          4  miraculously, earns just the right amount to be able

          5  to keep their HSP subsidy and to afford the 20%

          6  increase in their share of the rent, they are likely

          7  to have their PA cases closed anyway, since HRA is

          8  notoriously incompetent in properly budgeting

          9  families with non-PA income.

         10                 Other Public Assistance Issues.

         11                 Since the HSP program is limited to

         12  families who receive public assistance (PA), there

         13  are a number of other PA related issues that

         14  threaten tenants with loss of their homes.

         15                 The most common issue we see is that

         16  when tenants are sanctioned they are cut off from

         17  public assistance and from receiving the HSP rent

         18  subsidy. By the time they are sued in Housing Court

         19  they usually owe thousands of dollars, none of which

         20  can be obtained from HRA unless the tenants have

         21  successfully challenged the imposition of the

         22  sanction.

         23                 Our experience is that the

         24  overwhelming majority of sanctions are imposed

         25  erroneously.
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          2                 However, most recipients are not

          3  aware of the errors and how to challenge them. The

          4  LSNY paralegal staffing our office at PATH has now

          5  started to see families apply for shelter after

          6  eviction from HSP apartments. Two families seen

          7  earlier this week at PATH had been sanctioned, cut

          8  off from PA and HSP, accumulated rent arrears that

          9  could not be paid, and were evicted.

         10                 Shadow Housing.

         11                 In its eagerness to move families out

         12  of the shelter system, DHS has rented HSP apartments

         13  to an agency named Shadow Housing, which in turn has

         14  rented apartments directly to clients in the shelter

         15  system who pay their rent to Shadow Housing, which

         16  is supposed to turn those rent payments over to the

         17  owners of the buildings.

         18                 In many cases recently reported to

         19  us, Shadow Housing has failed to pay rents to the

         20  landlords, who then commenced nonpayment proceedings

         21  again Shadow Housing.

         22                 It appears that Shadow has failed to

         23  appear in court in all or most of the cases, which

         24  results in a judgment of possession for the landlord

         25  and a warrant of eviction that can be executed
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          2  against the tenant. This problem illustrates the

          3  lack of care with which this program has been

          4  implemented.

          5                 To conclude, HSP is a commendable

          6  attempt on the part of the City to provide housing

          7  to allow families to leave the shelter system.

          8  However, the program has serious flaws in its design

          9  and implementation.

         10                 Respectfully submitted, David

         11  Robinson, Esq.

         12                 The Legal Support Unit, Legal

         13  Services for New York City, 350 Broadway, 6th Floor,

         14  New York, NY 10013, (646)442-3596
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         17  Written Testimony Of:

         18  Roland Lewis

         19  Executive Director

         20  Habitat for Humanity - New York City

         21
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         23  Testimony of Habitat for Humanity - New York City

         24  to the City Council General Welfare Committee

         25  Oversight Hearing on Housing Stability Plus
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          2  April 27, 2006

          3

          4                 Introduction.

          5                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          6  testify today. My name is Roland Lewis, and I am the

          7  Executive Director for Habitat for Humanity - New

          8  York City.

          9                 I am here today to discuss some of

         10  the concerns that I share with thousands of other

         11  advocates, providers, and most important, the

         12  homeless families and individuals who have been, and

         13  will continue to be negatively effected by the

         14  Housing Stability Plus (HSP) program. While we

         15  congratulate the city and state for their innovation

         16  and willingness to create a housing subsidy that

         17  offsets the decline in Section 8 vouchers - and

         18  Housing Stability Plus provides a good start - this

         19  program currently has several design flaws that

         20  endanger high-risk families. In its current form, it

         21  may not foster stability.

         22                 Habitat-NYC urges the Bloomberg

         23  Administration and Governor Pataki to implement the

         24  following changes to HSP.

         25                 - End the subsidy step-downs;
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          2                 - Create a work incentive component

          3  so that Public Assistance recipients are able to

          4  work without losing their HSP subsidy;

          5                 - Extend HSP to homeless families not

          6  on PA, disabled homeless people receiving SSI and

          7  low-income seniors;

          8                 - Restore Section 8 priority to

          9  homeless families that are not eligible for HSP, or

         10  who have not gained stability by the end of the 5

         11  year subsidy; and

         12                 - Approve Intro. 161 and require HSP

         13  landlords to provide safe, livable homes.

         14                 About Habitat-NYC

         15                 Habitat - NYC was founded in 1984 as

         16  an independent affiliate of Habitat for Humanity

         17  International, and we build affordable housing in

         18  all five boroughs. Our homes are built with the

         19  "sweat equity" of our family partner homeowners,

         20  who work side-by-side with volunteers. Each year, an

         21  average of 10,000 New Yorkers from faith

         22  institutions, corporations, schools and civic groups

         23  build with us and learn more about how to help solve

         24  New York's affordable housing crisis.

         25                 In addition to building homes,
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          2  Habitat - NYC is a leading advocate for affordable

          3  housing and an end to homelessness; our goal is to

          4  ensure that every New Yorker has a decent,

          5  affordable home.

          6                 We work to achieve this by creating a

          7  social movement to end the housing crisis plaguing

          8  New York City and by calling on elected officials to

          9  make affordable housing a priority. We were

         10  instrumental in the fight for Inclusionary Zoning

         11  last year, and this year we are becoming an equally

         12  effective voice to reform the 421-a property tax

         13  exemption program to foster more affordable homes.

         14                 End Time-Limits, Subsidy Step-Downs

         15  and Work Disincentives that Lead to Housing

         16  Instability.

         17                 Habitat-NYC believes that the Housing

         18  Stability Plus, as currently configured, may not

         19  help Mayor Bloomberg achieve his ambitious goal to

         20  decrease homelessness in New York City by two-thirds

         21  over the next five years. Because the subsidy is

         22  structured in a way that jeopardizes, rather than

         23  promotes stability, too many HPS families and

         24  individuals are at risk of returning to the shelter

         25  system either before the subsidy expires, or at its
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          2  expiration.

          3                 Unlike the long-term benefits found

          4  in the Federal Section 8 program, Housing Stability

          5  Plus is a five-year, time-limited subsidy that

          6  decreases by 20% each year, regardless of the

          7  household's income or ability to afford higher rent.

          8  Families must be Public Assistance recipients and

          9  must keep their PA case open in order to continue

         10  receiving the subsidy. Thus, HSP recipients are

         11  discouraged from working. But without living-wage

         12  jobs, subsidy recipients are unable to afford an

         13  additional 20% annual rent increase or the full rent

         14  in Year Six - facing the prospect of an eviction.

         15                 Instead of fostering greater

         16  self-sufficiency, in its current form, the program

         17  makes it more beneficial for people to stay on

         18  Public Assistance in order to remain eligible for

         19  the full rent subsidy, or it encourages people to

         20  take lower-paying or part-time jobs in order to keep

         21  their PA case open.

         22                 Extend HSP Eligibility to Additional

         23  Populations in Need of Housing Assistance.

         24                 HSP serves only a very limited

         25  cross-section of those who need help with housing.
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          2  One in eight families in shelters - those not on

          3  Public Assistance - have no access to housing

          4  assistance.

          5                 The Mayor's subsidy program also is

          6  not available to disabled homeless people receiving

          7  SSI or to senior citizens who are not receiving

          8  public assistance and cannot transition into

          9  employment due to age or disability. They will be

         10  left with very limited permanent housing options and

         11  prolonged shelter stays.

         12                 With rental housing at a 3.09%

         13  vacancy rate and more than 30% of New Yorkers

         14  spending more than half of their income in rent, a

         15  revised HSP subsidy should be extended to help a

         16  wider range of New Yorkers in need of permanent,

         17  stable homes.

         18                 Restore Section 8 Priority to

         19  Homeless Families and Individuals.

         20                 We urge the city to continue to grant

         21  priority for Section 8 and public housing to those

         22  homeless families and individuals who, after

         23  thorough assessment, will not be able to achieve

         24  self-sufficiency at the end of the rental assistance

         25  time limit. Those deemed appropriate for Housing

                                                            168

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  Stability Plus should be guaranteed Section 8

          3  priority if they have not been become (sic)

          4  self-sufficient at the subsidy's end.

          5                 As the previous Homeless Commissioner

          6  Linda Gibbs stated, 50% of families exiting the

          7  shelter system each year prior to the 2004 policy

          8  charge, were able to do so with a Section 8 voucher.

          9  This is not a time to give up on Section 8. Instead,

         10  we urge Mayor Bloomberg to engage in an aggressive

         11  lobbying effort with HUD and the federal

         12  Administration to enhance and expand the Section 8

         13  program - not decrease it.

         14                 Require HSP Landlords to Prove

         15  Decent, Safe Housing

         16                 I am also here to offer my support

         17  for Intro 161. I sincerely hope that by enacting

         18  this important legislation, no more families

         19  accessing the Housing Stability Plus program will be

         20  placed in residential properties with a record of

         21  hazardous conditions.

         22                 Create a Successful HSP Program.

         23                 There is no question that we need to

         24  create a subsidy program for homeless New Yorkers,

         25  but it must be crafted in a way that realistically
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          2  ensures success. We need a housing subsidy program

          3  that mirrors the effective aspects of the Section 8

          4  program, and one that reaches a wider range of

          5  recipients. We need a subsidy program that does not

          6  decrease every year and does not act as a work

          7  disincentive. We need a program that sets people up

          8  for permanent housing and lifelong success.

          9                 Increasing Our Stock of Affordable

         10  Housing is the Real Solution.

         11                 And most important, we urge the city

         12  to increase the stock of very low-income housing

         13  through the adoption of measures that open up

         14  opportunities to build affordable housing, such as

         15  Inclusionary Zoning, and reforming the 421-a

         16  property tax exemption program. Ensuring an adequate

         17  supply of truly affordable housing is the best way

         18  to end homelessness.

         19

         20

         21  Written Testimony Of:

         22  Jessica Marcus

         23  Staff Attorney

         24  Family Law Unit

         25  South Brooklyn Legal Services
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          2  105 Court Street, 3rd Floor

          3  Brooklyn, NY 11201

          4  (718)246-3260

          5

          6  The General Welfare Committee

          7  of the New York City Council

          8  Public Hearing on Housing Stability Plus

          9  April 27, 2006

         10

         11

         12  Subject: Problems facing families who obtain Housing

         13  Stability Plus through the Administration for

         14  Children's Services

         15

         16                 Introduction.

         17                 I am a staff attorney in South

         18  Brooklyn Legal Services' Family Law Unit. Our Family

         19  Law Unit represents hundreds of parents and family

         20  members in child welfare proceedings in Family Court

         21  in order to ensure that families receive necessary

         22  services so that they may reunify as quickly as

         23  possible.

         24                 We also advocate for our clients at

         25  case conferences with child welfare case workers,
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          2  which gives us an opportunity to learn the workers'

          3  perspectives on how the system operates.

          4                 Since 2003, we have been

          5  collaborating with a group of other legal services

          6  providers who represent children and families

          7  involved in the foster care system on improving

          8  access to affordable housing for families involved

          9  with the Administration for Children's Services

         10  ("ACS"). We have met regularly with ACS officials to

         11  express our concerns about this issue and make

         12  recommendations on what steps the City must take to

         13  ensure that children do not remain in foster care

         14  solely due to their families' lack of housing.

         15                 Unfortunately, ACS' principal

         16  response has been to offer these families Housing

         17  Stability Plus ("HSP"), a housing subsidy program

         18  that has proved inadequate to meet the needs of this

         19  group of families. This testimony describes our

         20  observations of and recommendations to address the

         21  problems faced by families who enroll in the HSP

         22  program through the ACS.

         23                 The law clearly states that children

         24  should not be separated from their parents for

         25  reasons of poverty alone, and therefore, a family's
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          2  lack of adequate housing should not be a reason for

          3  children to be placed or remain in foster care.

          4                 Instead, ACS and foster care agencies

          5  are required to assist parents in obtaining

          6  affordable housing in order to prevent or shorten

          7  foster care placement.

          8                 The reality, however, i s that the

          9  options for obtaining affordable housing are meager,

         10  and the tragic result is that many children remain

         11  in foster care for long periods due to their

         12  parents' lack of housing.

         13                 Families who should be reunified

         14  remain apart, and parents and children miss out on

         15  being together during critical periods in children's

         16  growth and development. Prolonged foster care

         17  placement is also much more costly than programs

         18  which effectively assist families in obtaining

         19  adequate housing.

         20                 Procedural Problems With The

         21  Administration of HSP By ACS.

         22                 Unfortunately, to date ACS has not

         23  issued a written procedure explaining the

         24  administration of the HSP program.

         25                 As a result, there is a great deal of
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          2  confusion among ACS and foster care agency staff, as

          3  well as the families they serve, about what steps

          4  must be taken by each in order to establish a

          5  family's eligibility for the program, and later to

          6  obtain an apartment with the subsidy.

          7                 This is particularly important in the

          8  case of ACS, which relies on private City-contracted

          9  foster care agencies to provide much of the

         10  information necessary to process HSP applications.

         11                 Because of the lack of a written

         12  procedure clearly explaining the responsibilities of

         13  each of the players in processing the subsidy, ACS

         14  and foster care agency case workers often do not

         15  understand their role in this process, resulting in

         16  delays.

         17                 In addition, the lack of general

         18  understanding of the program means that many

         19  families who might be eligible are not properly

         20  informed and do not apply.

         21                 Lack Of Suitable Housing Available To

         22  Families Receiving HSP

         23                 ACS-contracted foster care agencies,

         24  which have the obligation to assist HSP-eligible

         25  families in locating housing suitable for
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          2  reunification with children in foster care,

          3  routinely report that it is extremely difficult to

          4  locate safe, habitable apartments which can be

          5  rented with HSP, due to the low rent levels allowed

          6  by the program and landlords' reluctance to rent to

          7  HSP recipients given the yearly decrease in the rent

          8  supplement.

          9                 Many of these families must limit

         10  their search to a particular borough so that they

         11  can continue to receive medical or social services

         12  that are a required condition of family

         13  reunification, making the apartment search even more

         14  difficult. At the same time, the City is spending

         15  thousands of dollars a month unnecessarily to keep

         16  these families' children in foster care, when the

         17  provision of suitable housing could allow them to be

         18  safely reunified immediately.

         19                 Instability In HSP Housing Harms

         20  Reunifying Families.

         21                 Social service providers at

         22  City-contracted foster care agencies report that

         23  they are hesitant to allow reunification in HSP

         24  apartments because housing stability is critical to

         25  successful family reunification, and they do not
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          2  consider a subsidy with a built-in 20% yearly

          3  decrease to be a stable source of housing.

          4                 These social service providers

          5  express the concern that families are being "set up

          6  to fail" in the difficult process of reunification.

          7  The parents who are eligible for ACS HSP are those

          8  whom ACS has identified as having successfully

          9  overcome enormous obstacles such as substance abuse

         10  and mental illness.

         11                 Their social service providers are

         12  understandably concerned about saddling them with

         13  the threat of eviction and homelessness at the most

         14  delicate of moments, when they have finally

         15  succeeded in reunifying their families.

         16                 Under HSP, even families with no

         17  employable adult member - for example, in which the

         18  only adult has a fixed income from SSI or social

         19  security due to a finding of disability by the

         20  federal government - will be subject to the 20%

         21  yearly decrease.

         22                 In addition, since the majority of

         23  ACS-involved HSP-eligible families have experienced

         24  and successfully overcome problems with mental

         25  illness or substance abuse, many will face serious
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          2  barriers to employment.

          3                 Most families are also required by

          4  ACS to continue participating in various social

          5  service and treatment programs as a condition of

          6  their reunification, making it more difficult to fit

          7  work into their schedules.

          8                 The built-in yearly decrease in the

          9  HSP subsidy, regardless of need, means that those

         10  ACS-involved families who are unable to overcome

         11  these barriers to employment will face eviction and

         12  homelessness, which could in turn lead to

         13  re-placement of their children in foster care.

         14  Children who have already suffered the trauma of

         15  foster care will face the additional trauma of

         16  displacement.

         17                 Another threat to housing stability

         18  for families in receipt of HSP is that the entire

         19  subsidy is discontinued when a recipient's public

         20  assistance case is closed or sanctioned. It is

         21  extremely common for welfare recipients' cases to be

         22  sanctioned or closed, often due to bureaucratic

         23  error. Families who have recently reunified in HSP

         24  housing will be faced with the threat of eviction

         25  and possible re-involvement with the foster care
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          2  system as the result of welfare sanctions and case

          3  closings.

          4                 Thus, although the City has presented

          5  HSP as a tool to facilitate family reunification,

          6  the structure of the program itself threatens to

          7  derail the successful reunification of many of these

          8  families.

          9                 Finally, an additional problem faced

         10  by families seeking to reunify with children in

         11  foster care in an HSP apartment is that the City

         12  often decreases the amount of rent paid by HSP if

         13  some or all of the children in foster care are not

         14  immediately returned to the family.

         15                 When ACS certifies a family eligible

         16  for HSP based on the family's need for housing in

         17  order to reunify with children in foster care, the

         18  family is certified for an apartment at the rent

         19  level that includes all the children in foster care

         20  for whom the permanency goal is reunification with

         21  their parents.

         22                 However, once the family moves into

         23  the apartment, it is currently HRA's policy to

         24  decrease the amount being paid for rent if ACS fails

         25  to certify that the children's discharge from foster
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          2  care is imminent.

          3                 There are many reasons why children

          4  might not be returned tot he parent immediately,

          5  including delays obtaining the necessary approval of

          6  the Family Court as well as administrative delays

          7  within ACS.

          8                 Regardless of the reason for the

          9  delay, HRA will reduce the HSP to the level that

         10  reflects the number of people actually in the

         11  household, instead of the number the family was

         12  originally HSP-certified for based on ACS' plan to

         13  reunify the family.

         14                 This means that, by the time the

         15  children are sent home, the family will already owe

         16  rent arrears, or worse, the parent could be evicted

         17  before the reunification even occurs.

         18                 This practice violates New York

         19  Social Service Law, which requires social services

         20  districts to include children in foster care when

         21  calculating a family's shelter allowance for as long

         22  as the permanency goal for the children is

         23  reunification with their parents.

         24                 It also conflicts with the stated

         25  purpose of ACS' HSP program, which is to provide
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          2  stable housing for families reunifying with children

          3  in foster care.

          4                 Recommendations.

          5                 In order to address the problems

          6  listed above, we recommend the following:

          7                 - ACS should immediately issue

          8  written procedures for processing parents' HSP

          9  applications and securing apartments for their

         10  families.

         11                 The procedure should address the

         12  initial application process, in which it is

         13  determined whether the family is eligible for the

         14  program, the process of locating an apartment, the

         15  procedure for issuing funds and securing the

         16  apartment once a family has found an apartment they

         17  wish to rent, and ACS' subsequent role in making

         18  sure that the rent continues to be paid by HRA at

         19  the appropriate level once the family has moved in.

         20                 The procedure should list the

         21  responsibilities of each of the players, including

         22  ACS Housing Unit staff, ACS case managers, and

         23  foster care agency staff.

         24                 The procedures should be clear,

         25  user-friendly, and streamlined, and should be widely
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          2  distributed to ACS and foster care agency staff and

          3  advocates who work with families.

          4                 ACS and foster care agency staff

          5  should be regularly trained on this procedure.

          6                 - The City should fund a program to

          7  prevent eviction by supplementing the HSP rent

          8  subsidies of families whose subsidies are decreased

          9  due to the 20% step-down, public assistance

         10  sanctions or case closings.

         11                 If such a program were in place,

         12  landlords would be more likely to accept HSP

         13  recipients as tenants, saving the City money that

         14  would otherwise be spent on costly foster care for

         15  children whose parents are unable to locate

         16  apartments with HSP.

         17                 - As required by the New York Social

         18  Services Law, the Human Resources Administration

         19  must ensure that rent is paid on behalf of families

         20  who obtain apartments through ACS at the level that

         21  reflects the total number of household members,

         22  including children in foster care, as long as the

         23  permanency goal for those children is reunification

         24  with their parents, regardless of how long it takes

         25  ACS to actually return the children to the
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          2  household.

          3                 - The City could also solve the

          4  problem of housing instability for ACS HSP

          5  recipients by supplementing the ACS Housing Subsidy,

          6  a separate state-funded subsidy that is available to

          7  families whose lack of housing puts their children

          8  at risk of foster care placement or prevents their

          9  discharge from foster care.

         10                 ACS has long acknowledged that this

         11  subsidy, which is set at only $300 per month, is

         12  woefully inadequate to allow most eligible families

         13  to afford apartments.

         14                 In fact, ACS has agreed to lobby the

         15  state to increase to subsidy, but no action has been

         16  taken.

         17                 Until such time as this subsidy is

         18  increased, the City should supplement this amount to

         19  allow all eligible families to afford housing

         20  adequate to allow their children  to stay out of or

         21  return home from foster care safely.

         22                 Making the ACS Housing Subsidy a

         23  viable alternative to HSP for families who need

         24  housing in order to reunify with children in foster

         25  care would save the City money on costly foster care
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          2  placements by allowing families to obtain housing

          3  and reunify more quickly, as well as by preventing

          4  housing instability that can lead to homelessness

          5  and foster care placements and re-placements.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 12:26 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 27th day of April 2006.
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